midtown
HOUSTON

April 25, 2019

BY MESSENGER

CITY SECRETARY’S OFFICE
CITY OF HOUSTON SN
CITY HALL ANNEX NN~ OV
900 BAGBY ~d ¢l X
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002

DEAR MADAM:
ENCLOSED IS A NOTICE FOR A PUBLIC MEETING ON APRIL 30, 2019 FOR THE
HOUSTON REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER TWO (ALSO KNOWN AS THE MIDTOWN

REINVESTMENT ZONE) AND THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY WHICH NEED
TO BE POSTED AS SOON AS POSSIBLE.

ALSO ENCLOSED IS AN ADDITIONAL COPY OF THIS LETTER WHICH WE WOULD
APPRECIATE YOUR DATE STAMPING AND RETURNING TO OUR MESSENGER.

THANK YOU FOR YOUR HELP IN THIS MATTER.

VERY TRULY YOURS,

KANDI SCHRAMM
OFFICE OF MATT THIBODEAUX
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

ENCLOSURES



MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
and

REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER TWO, CITY OF HOUSTON, TEXAS
(ALSO KNOWN AS THE MIDTOWN REINVESTMENT ZONE)

TO: THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY AND THE MIDTOWN REINVESTMENT ZONE AND TO ALL
OTHER INTERESTED PERSONS:

Notice is hereby given that the Board of Directors of the Midtown Redevelopment
Authority (the “Authority”) will hold a joint special meeting, open to the public, with the
Board of Directors of the Midtown Reinvestment Zone to be held on Tuesday, April 30,
2019 at 12:30 P.M. on the 3rd Floor of the Houston Exponential Center, 410 Pierce
Street, Suite 355, Houston, Texas 77002. The Board of Directors of each of the
Authority and the Midtown Reinvestment Zone will (i) consider, present and discuss
orders, resolutions or motions; (ii) adopt, approve and ratify such orders, resolutions or
motions; and (iii) take other actions as may be necessary, convenient or desirable, with
respect to the following matters:

AGENDA
L Call to Order and Introduction of Guests.
2. Public Comment.
3. Consent Agenda for the Midtown Reinvestment Zone:
a. Minutes for March 28, 2019.
4. Consent Agenda for the Authority:
a. Minutes for March 28, 2019;
b. Monthly financial reports for March 2019;
c. Invoices from Trustee and Operating Accounts for April 2019.

5. Joint Agenda for the Midtown Reinvestment Zone and the Authority:

a. Restated and Revised Interlocal Agreement between Harris County, Midtown
Redevelopment Authority and Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number
Two;

Project Plan Amendment and Supplement to Debt Authorization.

6. Midtown Building Option: Letter of Intent for Option of Property.

#5906508.1



10.

11.

12.

#5906508.1

Bagby Park Restaurant Kiosk Lease.

Engagement Letter for FY 2019 & 2020 Financial and Agreed Upon Procedures
Audits.

Midtown Affordable Housing Program:

a. Affordable Housing Operations Center;
i.  Financing Options
b. NHP Contract to Sell Affordable Housing Property
c. Resolution Authorizing a Development and Purchase Agreement for
Affordable Housing:
i. Epic Homes, LLC
ii. Cole/Klein Builders, LLC
d. Affordable Housing Development.

Midtown Capital Improvements Program:

a. Parks and Greenspace - Walter P Moore / Design Workshop
i. Midtown Park
1. Approve Park Change Orders — Millis
ii. Bagby Park — Storage and Renovations
1. Award Construction Contract
2. Approve Work Order for Construction Management and Inspection
Services
b. Caroline Street Reconstruction — ESPA Corp/KCI
i. Approve Change Orders
¢. FTA Grant Program - The Goodman Corporation.

With respect to the foregoing agenda items, the Authority may conduct an
executive session with regard to the following, as appropriate and necessary:

a. Consultation with attorney (Section 551.071, Texas Government Code);

b. The purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property (Section 551.072,
Texas Government Code);

¢. Personnel matters (Section 551.074, Texas Government Code);

d. Security personnel or devices (Section 551.076, Texas Government Code);
and

e. Economic development negotiations (Sections 551.087, Texas Government
Code).

Upon entering into the executive session, the presiding officer shall announce
which agenda items will be discussed.

Adjourn.

770t _toAant

Matt Thibodeaux '
Executive Director W



MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER TWO, CITY OF HOUSTON, TEXAS

March 28, 2019

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Reinvestment Zone
Number Two, City of Houston, Texas (the “Zone”), a non-profit corporation, was held at
the Midtown Redevelopment Authority’s offices in the Houston Technelogy Center, 410
Pierce, Houston, Texas 77002, on Thursday, March 28, 2019, at 12:30 p.m», The meeting
was open to the public. The roll was called of the duly appointedmembers ofithe Board,
to-wit:

Pos. # Name Pos. # Name
1 Camille Foster 6 Abe Goren
2 Doug Erwing 7 Caton M{ Fenz
3 Gayle Fortson 8 John Thomas
4 Pamela Ngo Castleman 9 Brandon Dudley
5 Al Odom

and all of the above were present except Directors Thomas and Fortson.

Also in attendance were Matt Thibodeaux, Vernon Williams, Kandi»Schramm, Todd Edwards,
Cynthia Alvarado, Sally Adame, Theresa' Gilmore, David Thomas, Jalisa Hurst, Mechelle
Phillips, Madeline Penag/AmarisySalinas and ' Mark Sullivan of Midtown; Barron F. Wallace of
Bracewell LLP; Peggy Foreman of Burney & Foreman; Rachel Rae Welsh of Walter P. Moore;
Carol Harrison ofdIDS Engineering;; Roberta Burroughs of Roberta Burroughs & Associates;
Algenita Davisf Angie Gomez,/Joy Fitzgerald, Linda Larry-Mitchell & Robert Bradford of
CCPPI; Alex(Ramirez of Design Workshop; Kristin Blomquist of Masterson Advisors; Jennifer
Curley of the “Cityhof Houston; Vanessa Colérand Harry Klein of Cole/Klein Builders; Peter
Freedman of Agape Homes CDC; Charlotte Knight-Marshall of TKG & Associates; Harish
Hegde and John Mudd of KCI Technologies and Mariana Rashcke of the Goodman Corporation.

Chairman Odom called the meeting to order and welcomed the guests.

CONSENT AGENDA

MINUTES FOR FEBRUARY 28,2019,

Matt Thibodeaux, Executive Director, presented the consent agenda to the Board.

Director Goren made a motion to approve the consent agenda. The motion was
seconded by Director Dudley and carried by unanimous vote.

#5883024.1



ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was
adjourned.

Pamela Castle ecreta

#5883024.1






MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

March 28, 2019

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Midtown Rédevelopment
Authority (the “Authority”) was held at the Authority’s offices in the Houston Technology
Center, 410 Pierce, Houston, Texas 77002, on Thursday, March 28, 20194t 12:30 p.m. The
meeting was open to the public. The roll was called of the duly appointed shembets of the Board,
to-wit:

Pos.# Name Pos. # Name
1 Camille Foster 6 Abe Goren
2 Doug Erwing 7 Caton M. Fenz
3 Gayle Fortson 8 John Thomas
4 Pamela Ngo Castleman 9 Brandon Dudley
5 Al Odom

and all of the above were present except Directors Thomas and Fortson.

Also in attendance were Matt Thibodedux, Vernon Williams, Kandi Schramm, Todd Edwards,
Cynthia Alvarado, Sally Adame, Theresa Gilmore;, David Thomas, Jalisa Hurst, Mechelle
Phillips, Madeline Pena, Amaris Salinas'and Mark Sullivan,of Midtowa; Barron F. Wallace of
Bracewell LLP; Peggy Foreman of Burney & Foreman; Rachel Rae, Welsh of Walter P. Moore;
Carol Harrison of IDS Engineering;; Roberta \Burreughs of Roberta Burroughs & Associates;
Algenita Davis, Angie Gemez, Joy Fitzgerald,ALinda Larry-Mitchell & Robert Bradford of
CCPPI; Alex Ramirezéof Design Workshop; Kristin Blomquist of Masterson Advisors; Jennifer
Curley of the City4of Houston; Vanessa Cole and Harry Klein of Cole/Klein Builders; Peter
Freedman of Agape Homes CDC; Charlotte Knight-Marshall of TKG & Associates; Harish
Hegde and Johft Mudd of KCI Téchnologies and Mariana Rashcke of the Goodman Corporation. .

Chairman Odom ¢alled theseeting to order and welcomed the guests.

PUBEIC.COMMENT.

Mr. Peter Freedman of Agape Homes CDC introduced himself to the group and expressed an
interest in Midtown’s,affordable housing program.

CONSENT AGENDA FOR THE AUTHORITY:

MINUTES FOR FEBRUARY 28, 2019;

MONTHLY(FINANCIAL REPORTS FOR FEBRUARY 2019;

INVOICES FROM TRUSTEE AND OPERATING ACCOUNTS FOR MARCH 2019;
CONSULTING AGREEMENT WITH WULFE & CO.;

RATIEY PLACEMENT AGENT AGREEMENT.

e o o

Executive Director Thibodeaux presented the Consent Agenda. Director Dudley made a
motion to approve the consent agenda items a — ¢, as presented. The motion was seconded by
Director Goren and carried by unanimous vote.



JOINT AGENDA FOR THE MIDTOWN REINVESTMENT ZONE AND THE

AUTHORITY:

a.

RESTATED AND REVISED INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN HARRIS

COUNTY, MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AND TAX INCREMENT
REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER TWO;

Barron F. Wallace reported that he is still awaiting final comments from certain City of
Houston and Harris County departments regarding the Restated and Revised Interlocal
Agreement between Harris County, Midtown Redevelopment Authority and Tax Increment
Reinvestment Zone Number Two.

PROJECT PLAN AMENDMENT AND (ASUPPLEMENT _TO DEBT
AUTHORIZATION.

Barron F. Wallace stated that there was no new information regarding the Project Plan
Amendment and Supplement to Debt Authorization to report at'this time.

MIDTOWN OFFICE LEASE AND RELOCATION OPTIONS: OPTION AGREEMENT

TERM SHEET.

Mr. Wallace stated that the Authority is awaiting receiptiof.a formal proposed term sheet from the
developer.

MIDTOWN AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM:

a.

a.

AFFORDABLE HOUSING OPERATIONS CENTER;

No updatevas given on the Affordable Housing Operations Center at this meeting.
AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT UPDATE.

Todd Edwards‘presented the Comprehensive Review Process Tracking Report from CCPPI
showifig,status of‘varieus developments and proposed developments in the target area. He
also gave aybrief report on homes currently being developed by Cole/Klein Builders LLC
and provided pictures of the,homes in various states of construction. Mr. Edwards further
reported that HOU Homes, Inc. is in the completion phase of construction of its 31
townhome project. He stated that all of the units had been sold and many were occupied.
He offered to schedule a tour of the townhomes for Board Members.

MIDTOWN CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAM:

PARKSAND GREENSPACE - WALTER P MOORE / DESIGN WORKSHOP

I. MIDTOWN PARK

In Marlon Marshall’s absence, Kandi Schramm reported the Midtown Park contractor
is progressing with paver, lighting and landscape installation in the Front 90 Plaza area.



She also reported that sanitary sewer installation in the Front 90 area has begun and
that construction of the Main Street streetscape is scheduled to begin in April 2019.

1. APPROVE GARAGE CHANGE ORDERS — CAMDEN

There were no garage change orders presented for consideration.

2. APPROVE PARK CHANGE ORDERS — MILLIS

There were no Park change orders presented for considerafion.

II. ENTRY PORTALS

Ms. Schramm reported that the project closeout docuinents were in progress.

1. APPROVE CHANGE ORDERS — B&D{CONTRACTORS

There were no entry portal change orders presented for&onsideration.

b. CAROLINE STREET RECONSTRUCTION - ESPA CORP/KCI

Ms. Schramm reported that the contractor for, the Caroline Street, Project continues the
waterline installation on the east side of Caroline between Dennis and McGowen and the
storm sewer installation on Tuam Street between Caroline and.Austin.

I. APPROVE CHANGE ORDERS
There were né change orders presented for consideration.

¢. FTA GRANTPROGRAM - THE GOODMAN CORPORATION.

THERE WAS NO NEW INFORMATION TO REPORT REGARDING THE FTA GRANT.

PROGRAM. WITH RESPECT TO THE FOREGOING AGENDA ITEMS, THE
AUTHORITY MAY CONDUCT AN EXECUTIVE SESSION WITH REGARD TO
THE FOLELOWING, AS APPROPRIATE AND NECESSARY:

a. CONSULTATION WITH ATTORNEY (SECTION 551.071, TEXAS GOVERNMENT
CODE);

b. THE PURCHASE, EXCHANGE, LEASE OR VALUE OF REAL PROPERTY
(SECTION 551072, TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE);

c. PERSONNEL MATTERS (SECTION 551.074, TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE);

d. SECURITY PERSONNEL OR _DEVICES (SECTION _ 551.076, TEXAS
GOVERNMENT CODE); AND

e. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT NEGOTIATIONS (SECTIONS 551.087, TEXAS
GOVERNMENT CODE).

There being no further business the meeting was adjourned.



Pamela Castleman, Secret






Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Profit & Loss
July 2018 through March 2019

Jul '18 - Mar 19
Ordinary Income/Expense

Income
400000 - Revenue & Support
400009 - City of Houston Tax Increment 500.00
400010 - HISD Tax Increment 1,253,322.00
400020 - Reimb Off Exp & Staff 263,145.18
400022 - HTC Performance Rent 1.00
400025 - Interest-Debt Service & Reserve 130,786.07
400026 - Interest-Other Bond Funds 167,659.66
400029 - Interest - Affordable Housing 164,181.08
400030 - Interest-Operating Funds 88,977.62
400032 - Other Revenue 363,823.90
Total 400000 - Revenue & Support 2,422,396.51
Total Income 2,422 ,396.51
Gross Profit 2,422,396.51
Expense

500000 - BOND FUND EXPENSES
505000 - T-0220 Afford.Hous Lnd Bk Prg

500022 - Affordable Housing Expenditures 1,010,933.33
500023 - AFH Legal Fees 31,715.00
Total 505000 - T-0220 Afford.Hous Lnd Bk Prg 1,042,648.33
Total 500000 - BOND FUND EXPENSES 1,042,648.33
510000 - INCREMENT PROJECTS/EXPENSE
510002 - T-0214 Caroline St near HCCS 253,964.19
510003 - T-0211 Holman Street St 150,539.01
510008 - T-0220 Afford Housing Land Bnk
510013 - T-0220 Affordable Housing Legal 67,293.11
510017 - T-0220Drainage Fees 5,759.42
510018 - Fines 10,721.95
512001 -T-0220 Aff Hous Expense 2,829,122.23
Total 510008 - T-0220 Afford Housing Land Bnk 2,912,896.71
510010 - T-0237 Baldwin Park'Upgrades
510019 - T-0214 Caroline St 34,987.50
510024 - T-0204 Infrastruc/Street Lights 484.62
510041 - CIP Program Expenses 175,179.82
510043, T-0234 Parks & Open Space & Mob 138,511.83
510045 - T-0224 HTC {- Bldg,Maintenance 28,309.08
510046 - T-0221 Midtown Pk 2,420,942.05
510050 - T-0210 Main Street Enhancements 1,405,527.84
510053 - T-0233 Midtown Garage 15,745.91
510096 - T-0207 Opr of Zone Prj Faciliti 250,000.00
510102 - HMAAC Interest Expense 40,081.44
510103 - Camden Interest 525,450.92
510534 - T<0225 Mobility & Pedest Imprv 124,878.83
510700 Municipal Services Costs 51,544.78
511001 - T-0232 Public & Cultural Fac 100,000.00
511002 - T-0233 Midtown Park Garage 105,774.94
Total 510000 - INCREMENT PROJECTS/EXPENSE 8,734,819.47
550000 - General & Admin. Expense
550002 - Contract Labor 20,359.40
550003 - Rent Expense (Additional office space) 54,705.00
550004 - Salaries
550014 - Health Insruance 83,936.32



Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Profit & Loss
July 2018 through March 2019

550015 - AFLAC
550018 - Life Insurance
550004 - Salaries - Other
Total 550004 - Salaries
5500047 - Overtime
550007 - Courier Service
550008 - Office Supply & Expense
550009 - Misc Exp
550010 - Telephone & Utilities
550110 - Cellular Service
550113 - Drainage fee
550010 - Telephone & Utilities - Other
Total 560010 - Telephone & Utilities
550011 - Interest Expense - Camden
550012 - Postage
550019 - Special Projects (Special Projects as determined by the City of Houston)
550022 - Bank Charges & Fees
550023 - Trust Expenses
550025 - Professional Services
550026 - Accounting Consultants
550027 - Financial Audit (Audit Services)
550028 - Legal Consultants
550030 - Planning Consultants
550031 - HTC Bldg Maintenance
550032 - Engineering Consultants
550033 - Professional Fees/Other Consult
550034 - Equip Rent & Lease Expense
550036 - Licenses & Fees
550037 - Workman's Comp Insurance
550038 - Insurance - All
550039 - Computers & Repairs & Maint
550040 - Repair & Maintenance
550044 = Payroll Expense & PR Tax Exp
550045 - Payroll Fees
550046 - Reimb. Employee Office Exp.
550050 - Depreciation Expense
550052 - Depre Expense-Midtown Park
550053 Deprec Expense-Works of Art
550058 - Travel
550061 - Public Relations
550000 - General & Admin. Expense - Other
Total 5650000 - General & Admin. Expense
550051 - Dep Exp/~ Midtown Park/Garage
600000 - Bond Related Expenses
550055¢ Amort Bond Prem
560038 - 11 Bond Series Interest Expense
560039 - 2013 Bond Series Int Expense
560040 - 2015 Bond Int Expense
560041 - 2017 Bond Int Expense
Total 600000 - Bond Related Expenses
Total Expense

Net Ordinary Income
Net Income

Jul 18 - Mar 19

1,728.58
221.30
1,109,633.48
1,195,519.68
2,445.77
2,248.57
10,337.97
2,814.31

876.87
2,966.21
13)927.85
17,770:93
-314,594.00
601.28
223,750.00
6,304.22
10,744.80
75,474.69
13,550.00
41,375.00
125,950.94
8,168.82
13,931.52
106,934.86
34,840.00
5,920.99
9,630.53
2,944.54
139,834.63
23,842.13
5,481.97
84,601.99
15,817.67
135.03
330,014.14
424,323.44
19,354.10
2,706.19
111,180.00
935.33
2,829,956.44
269,557.12

-384,628.48
578,291.69
855,245.84
315,558.33

1,241,483.34
2,605,950.72
15,482,932.08

-13,060,535.57
-13,060,535.57




Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Balance Sheet
As of March 31, 2019

Mar 31, 19
ASSETS
Current Assets
Checking/Savings
101001 - Wells Fargo Ope Acctg 64040 49,377.80
101002 - Infrastructure Projects 1731 949.78
101010 - WF Surplus Acct 63943 908.55
101020 - WF FTA Enhanced Path 63919 59.91
102200 - Logic Operating Account (Investment Account) 3¢941,399.56
103200 - TexStar Operating Acct 1111 6,575.80
103600 - Wells Fargo Oper Inves 63901 728.80
103700 - WF Operating Saving 3215777180 45,305.88
104000 - Affordable Housing Accounts
104021 - WF Afford Hous 3927 53,279.59
104022 - WF Pilot Program 3935 343.25
104116 - TexStar Aff. Hsng MM 1800 1,973.27
104200 - Logic Affordable Housing (Investment Account) 3,051,639.88
Total 104000 - Affordable Housing Accounts 3,107,235.99
105000 - Trustee Investments
105001 - Pledge Revenue Fund 422885
105100 - Pledge Revenue Fund -422885 2,254.56
Total 105001 - Pledge Revenue Fund 422885 2,254.56
105002 - Debt Service Fund
105200 - BNY-Debt Service Fund 422896 2,223,977.19
Total 105002 - Debt Service Fund 2,223,977.19
105003 - Reserve Fund 422897
105324 - TexStar Debt Res Fnd MM 1023 (Debt Reserve Fund) : 8,000,842.43
Total 105003 - Reserve Fund 422897 8,000,842.43
105009 - Austin Park Maint. Fund 422919
105901 - Austin Park Money Market Acct. 3,528.00
Total 105009 - Austin Park Maint. Fund 422919 3,528.00
107000 - BOND FUNDS
107012 - BNY 443264 2011 Escrow 9.99
107017+ 937933 8400 2017 ESCROW 1,245,366.44
107018 - LOGIC 2017 PROJECT FUND (Trust Account 7487592004) 6,956,362.27
107019 - LOGIC 2017 AFFORDABLE HOUSING (Trust Account 7487592005) 4,559,729.88
Total 107000 - BOND FUNDS 12,761,468.58
Total 105000 Trustee Investments 22,992,070.76
Total Checking/Savings 30,144,612.83
Accounts Receivable
170000 - Accounts Receivable
170008 - KIOS -6,400.00
170011 - MIDCORP 152,871.33
170020 - HX Houston Exponential AR 18,624.27
170021 - HTCBUILTOUT 338,285.67
170030): FTA INCOME 7,340.00
Total 170000 - Accounts Receivable 510,721.27
Total Accounts Receivable 510,721.27
Total Current Assets 30,655,334.10
Fixed Assets
150000 - Fixed Assets
150010 - Office Furniture & Equipment 26,321.36
160011 - Accumluated Depreciation-Furn. -26,321.36

160020 - Computer Equipment 32,057.11



Midtown Redevelopment Authority

150021 - Accumulated Depreciation-Comp.

150040 - Land - JPI Park

150045 - Walgreens/Lui Park Land

150062 - LLand - Houston Tech.Center |

150063 - Houston Tech Center |

150064 - Accm Deprec-Houston Tech Cntr |

150065 - Land - HTC Phase |l

150066 - Houston Tech Center ||

160067 - Accum.Deprec. HTC Phase |

150069 - Land - Bagby Park

150070 - BagbyPark

150071 - Accum.Deprec. BagbyPark

150075 - Midtown Park 2905 Travis St

150078 - Midtown Park Land-Tracts | & I

1500783 - Accum Deprec-Works of Art

150078A - Midtown (Superblock) Garage

150078B - Midtown (Superblockj) Park

150078C - Midtown Garage - Depreciable As
1500781 - Acc Depre - Midtown Garage

Balance Sheet
As of March 31, 2019

150078C - Midtown Garage - Depreciable As - Other
Total 150078C - Midtown Garage - Depreciable As

150078D - Midtown Park - Depreciable Asse
1500782 - Acc Depre Midtown Park

150078D - Midtown Park - Depreciable Asse - Other
Total 150078D - Midtown Park - Depreciable Asse
150079B - Works of Art - Donated
150080 - Land (Resale) (Land purchase for resale)

150081 - Earnest Money,

150082 - Option Fees

150803 - Affordable Housing Legal
150804 - Affordable Housing Misc
150805 - AFFORD HOUS GRANTS

150080 - Land (Resale) (Land purchase for resale) - Other.
Total 150080 - Land (Resale) (Land purchase for resale)

150089 - Land HMAAC (Land)
150090 - HMAAC Property
150091 - Accum Depr HMAAC
150100 - 2800 MAIN
Total 150000 - Fixed Assets
Total Fixed Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABICITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
200000 - Accounts Payable
202001 - Retainage Payable
200000 - Accounts Payable - Other
Total 200000 - Accounts Payable
Total Accounts Payable
Other Current Liabilities
200001 - Current Liablities
200005 - Accrued Expenses

Mar 31, 19

-32,057.11
736,911.00
141,000.00
798,053.89
2,667,192.62
-2,112,038.51
697,219.00
2¢816,117.96
-1,771,807.68
1,318,870.15
2,453,218.83
-1,145,296.61
3,506,306.26
4,416,883.45
-19,354.10
-0.13
2,300,103.34

-539,114.28
23,104,895.00
22,565,780.72

-848,646.44
19,094,553.00

18,245,906.56
725,778.00

36,686.18
11,200.00
109,050.45
752,799.46
126,750.28
50,941,384.15
51,977,870.52
1,206,150.00
918,850.00
-382,853.70
317,069.93
112,377,931.50
__143,033,265.60

2,911,411.71

773,452 .40
3,684,864.11
3,684,864.11

118,257 .61



Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Balance Sheet
As of March 31, 2019

Mar 31, 19
201000 - Operating Account Liabilities -2,530.25
201001 - MIDCORP Kios 14,554.84
202000 - Project Fund Liabilities 18,578.35
2021062 - Due MMD -3,843.12
204000 - HMAAC NOTE - CURRENT 102,902.00

2103008 - CRI Current Camden
200001 - Current Liablities - Other
Total 200001 - Current Liablities
2103007 - Developer Advances Midtown Park
Total Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
210000 - Long Term Liabilities
210044 - Bonds Payable Series 2011
210047 - Bonds Payabe Series "13
210048 - Current Portion Bonds Payable
210049 - Bond Payable Series '15
210050 - Bond Payable Series 2017

14,935,000.00
21,990,000.00
5,873,000.00
9,845,000.00
35,797,000.00

210053 - Accrued Bond Int 2015 series 78,889.58
210055 - Accrued Bond Interest 13 Series 213,811.46
210056 - Accrued Bond Interest Series 11 144,572.92
210058 - Series 2013 BOND PREMIUM 1,097,297.89
210059 - Series 2015 Bond Prem 688,396.84
210061 - Series 2017 Bond Premium 3,893,714.45
210062 - Accrued Bond Interest Series 17 310,370.84
2103000 - LOANS
2103003 - HMAAC LOAN REFINANCED 1,188,551.71
Total 2103000 - LOANS 1,188,551.71
Total 210000 - Long Tern 96,055,605.69
Total Long Term Liabilitie 96,055,605.69

Total Liabilities 109,317,895.156

Equity
1110 - Retained Ea 46,775,906.02
Net Income -13,060,535.57
Total Equity 33,715,370.45

TOTAL LIAl 143,033,265.60




101001

104021

104116
104200

105901

107012 -
107017 -
107018 -
107019 -
170008 -
- MIDCORP
170020 -
- HTC BUILTOUT

170011

170021

170030 -
150010 -
- Accumluated Depreciation-Furn.
150020 -
- Accumulated Depreciation-Comp.

150011

150021

150040 -
150045 -
150062 -
150063 -
150064 -
150065,
150066 -
150067 -
150069 -
150070 -
- Accum.Deprec. BagbyPark
150075 -
150078 -

150071

Midtown Redevelopment Authority

- Wells Fargo Ope Acctg 64040
101002 -
101010 -
101020 -
102200 -
103200 -
103600 -
103700 -
- WF Afford Hous 3927
104022 -
- TexStar Aff. Hsng MM 1800
- Logic Affordable Housing

105100 -
105200 -
105324 -
- Austin Park Money Market Acct.

Infrastructure Projects 1731

WF Surplus Acct 63943

WF FTA Enhanced Path 63919
Logic Operating Account

TexStar Operating Acct 1111
Wells Fargo Oper Inves 63901

WF Operating Saving 3215777180

WF Pilot Program 3935

Pledge Revenue Fund -422885
BNY-Debt Service Fund 422896
TexStar Debt Res Fnd MM 1023

BNY 443264 2011 Escrow
937933 8400 2017 ESCROW
LOGIC 2017 PROJECT FUND

LOGIC 2017 AFFORDABLE HOUSING

KIOS

HX Houston Exponential AR

FTA INCOME
Office Furniture & Equipment

Computer Equipment

Land - JPI' Park

Walgreens/Lui Park Land

Land - Houston Tech.Center|
Houston Tech Center |

Accm Deprec-Houston Tech Cntr |
Land - HTC Phase Il

Houston Tech Center I
Accum.Deprec. HTC Phase |
Land - Bagby Park

BagbyPark

Midtown Park 2905 Travis St
Midtown Park Land-Tracts | &l

1500783 - Accum Deprec-Works of Art
150078A - Midtown (Superblock) Garage

Trial Balance
As of March 31, 2019

Mar 31, 19

Debit

Credit

49,377.80
9490.78
908.55

59.91
3,941,399.56
6.575.80
728.80

45,305.88

53,279.59
343.25

1,973.27
3,051,639.88
2,254 56
2,223,977.19
8,000,842.43
3,528.00
9.99
1,245,366.44
6,956,362.27
4,559,729.88

152,871.33
18,624.27
338,285.67
7,340.00
26,321.36

32,057.11

736,911.00
141,000.00
798,053.89
2,667,192.62

697,219.00
2,816,117.96

1,318,870.15
2,453,218.83

3,506,306.26
4,416,883.45

6,400.00

26,321.36

32,057.11

2,112,038.51

1,771,807.68

1,145,296.61

19,354.10
0.13



Midtown Redevelopment Authority

150078B - Midtown (Superblockj) Park
150078C - Midtown Garage - Depreciable As
1500781 - Acc Depre - Midtown Garage
150078D - Midtown Park - Depreciable Asse
1500782 - Acc Depre Midtown Park
150079B - Works of Art - Donated

150080 - Land (Resale)

150081 - Earnest Money

150082 - Option Fees

150803 - Affordable Housing Legal
150804 - Affordable Housing Misc
150805 - AFFORD HOUS GRANTS
150089 - Land HMAAC (Land)

150090 - HMAAC Property

150091 - Accum Depr HMAAC

150100 - 2800 MAIN

200000 - Accounts Payable

202001 - Retainage Payable

200001 - Current Liablities

200005 - Accrued Expenses

201000 - Operating Account Liabilities
201001 - MIDCORP Kios

202000 - Project Fund Liabilities

2021062 - Due MMD

204000 - HMAAC NOTE - CURRENT
2103008 - CRI Current Camden

2103007 - Developer Advances Midtown Park
210044 - Bonds Payable Series 2011
210047 - Bonds Payabe Series ‘13
210048 - Current Portion Bonds Payable
210049 - Bond Payable Series '15
210050 - Bond Payable Series 2017
210053 - Accrued Bond Int 2015 series
210055 - Accrued Bond Interest 13 Series
210056\ Accrued Bond Interest Series 11
210058 - Series 2013 BOND PREMIUM
210059 -“Series 2015Bond Prem

210061 - Series 2017 Bond Premium
210062 - Accrued Bond Interest Series 17
2103003 - HMAAC LOAN REFINANCED
1110 - Retained Earnings

400009 - City of Houston Tax Increment
400010 - HISD Tax Increment

400020 - Reimb Off Exp & Staff

Trial Balance
As of March 31, 2019

Mar 31, 19
Debit Credit

2,300,103.34
23,104,895.00

539,114.28
19,094,553.00

848,646.44
725,778.00
50,941,384.15
36,686.18
11,200.00
109,050.45
752,799.46
126,75028
1,206,160.00
918,850.00

382,853.70
317,069.93

773,452.40

2,911,411.71

13,800.00

118,257.61
2{530.25

14,554.84

18,578.35
3,843.12

102,902.00

1,586,239.92

7,729,466.00

14,935,000.00

21,990,000.00

5,873,000.00

9,845,000.00

35,797,000.00

78,889.58

213,811.46

144,572.92

1,097,297.89

688,396.84

3,893,714.45

310,370.84

1,188,551.71

46,775,906.02

500.00

1,253,322.00

263,145.18



400022 -
400025 -
400026 -
400029 -
400030 -
400032 -
500022 -
500023 -
- T-0214 Caroline St near HCCS

- T-0211 Holman Street St

- T-0220 Affordable Housing Legal
510017 -
510018 -
- T-0220 Aff Hous Expense

- T-0214 Caroline St

- T-0204 Infrastruc/Street Lights

- CIP Program Expenses

- T-0234 Parks & Open Space & Mob
510045 -
- T-0221 Midtown Pk

- T-0210 Main Street Enhancements
- T-0233 Midtown Garage

- T-0207 Opr of Zone Prj Faciliti
510102 -
510103 -
- T-0225 Mobility & Pedest impnv
510700 -

510002
510003
510013

512001
510019
510024
510041
510043

510046

510050

510053

510096

510534

511001
511002

550015

Midtown Redevelopment Authority

HTC Performance Rent
Interest-Debt Service & Reserve
Interest-Other Bond Funds
Interest - Affordable Housing
Interest-Operating Funds

Other Revenue

Affordable Housing Expenditures
AFH Legal Fees

T-0220 Drainage Fees
Fines

T-0224 HTC | - Bldg Maintenance

HMAAC Interest Expense
Camden Interest

Municipal Services Costs

- T-0232 Public'& Cultural Fac

- T-0233 Midtown Park Garage
550000 -
550002 -
550003 -
550004 -
550014 -

General & Admin. Expense
Contract Labor

Rent Expense

Salaries

Health Insruance

: AFLAC
550018 -

Life Insurance

5500047 - Overtime

550007 -
550008 -
5500009 -

550010

550011

Courier Service
Office Supply & Expense
Misc Exp

- Telephone & Utilities
550110 -
550113 -

Cellular Service
Drainage fee

- Interest Expense - Camden

Trial Balance
As of March 31, 2019

Mar 31, 19

Debit

Credit

1,010,933.33
31,715.00
253,964.19
150,539.01
67,293.11
5,75942
10,721.95
2,829,122.23
34,987.50
484.62
175,179.82
138,611.83
28;309.08
2,420,942.05
1,405(527.84
15,745.91
250,000.00
40,081.44
525,450.92
124,878.83
51,5644.78
100,000.00
105,774.94
935.33
20,359.40
54,705.00
1,109,633.48
83,936.32
1,728.58
221.30
244577
2,248.57
10,337.97
2,814.31
13,927.85
876.87
2,966.21

1.00
130,786.07
157,659.66
164,181.08

88,977.62
363,82390

314,594.00



550012 -
550019 -
550022 -

550023

550026

550031

550037
550038

550058
550061
550051
550055

560040

560041
TOTAL

Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Postage
Special Projects
Bank Charges & Fees

- Trust Expenses
550025 -
- Accounting Consultants
550027 -
550028 -
550030 -
- HTC Bldg Maintenance
550032 -
550033 -
550034 -
550036 -

Professional Services

Financial Audit
Legal Consultants
Planning Consultants

Engineering Consultants
Professional Fees/Other Consult
Equip Rent & Lease Expense
Licenses & Fees

* Workman's Comp Insurance
* Insurance - All

550039 -
550040 -
550044 -
550045 -
550046 -
550050 -
550052 -
550053 -
- Travel

Computers & Repairs & Maint
Repair & Maintenance

Payroll Expense & PR Tax Exp
Payroll Fees

Reimb. Employee Office Exp.
Depreciation Expense

Depre Expense-Midtown Park
Deprec Expense-Works of Art

* Public Relations

- Dep Exp - Midtown Park/Garage
- Amort Bond Prem

560038 -
560039 -
- 2015 Bond Int Expense
- 2017 Bond Int Expense

11 Bond Series Interest Expense
2013 Bond'Series Int Expense

Trial Balance
As of March 31, 2019

Mar 31, 19

Debit

Credit

601.28
223,750.00
6,304.22
10,744.80
75,474.69
13,550.00
41,375.00
125,950.94
8,168.82
13,931.562
106,934.86
34,840.00
5,920.99
9,630.53
2,944 54
139,834.63
23,842.13
5,481.97
84,601.99
15,817.67
135.03
330,014.14
424,323.44
19,354.10
2,706.19
111,180.00
269,557.12

578,291.69
855,245.84
315,5568.33
1,241,483.34

384,628.48

166,105,683.45

166,105,683.45







Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Operations Account Check Register

As of April 30, 2019

Tﬂ)e Date Num Name Memo Credit
101001 - Wells Fargo Ope Acctg 64040
Bill Pmt -Check 04/01/2019 9057 HX Houston Exponential April 2019 Rent 5,745.00
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9061 Bee-Line Delivery Service Courier Service 285,16
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9062 IDS Engineering Group Professiona Consultants 49,853.79
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9063 marimon Contract bas cost & copies 315.00
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9064 MBM Financial Corporatlon CANON/RAC5250 244,65
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9065 McConnell & Jones, LLP MARCH 2019 540.00
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9066 Midtown Scouts Square Property, LP CONTRACT PARKING 300.00
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9067 NEVA Corporation HVAC Services 1,431.70
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9068 One World Strategy Group, LLC MARCH 2019 P, 7,500.00
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9069 Pilney Bowes Global Financial Services LL Postage Met 32.00
BIll Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9070 RPH 3,000.00
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9071 Seal Security Solutions LLC 8,192.00
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9072 Staples Advantage 968.02
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9073 The Goodman Corporation 17,266.40
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9074 ThyssenKrupp Elevator
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9075 West Unified Communications Servi
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9076 Wulfe & Co.
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9077 TLC Engineering, Inc.
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9078 A. O. Phillips & Associa 9,695.00
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9079 SER Construction Partn: ancements MRA IDS Project 117  12,323.50
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9080 Walter P. Moore RCE SIGNAL 7,949.90
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9081 Walter P. Moore 2,160.30
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9082 VOID 2,631.28
Biil Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9083 AFLAC 2,631.28
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 9084 Bri 10,559.00
Tolal 101001 - Wells Fargo Ope Acctg 64040 260,082.43




Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Affordable Housing Account

Check Register
As of April 30, 2019
Type Dale Num Name Memo Amt
104000 - Affordable Housing Accounts
104021 - WF Afford Hous 3927

Bill Pmt -Check 04/04/2019 3355 Mr. Chace Blaylock Affordable Housing CCPPI 3,000.00
8ill Pmt -Check 04/11/2019 3356 ComPro Consullants, LLC Commerial Appaisal of 6053 Bellforl St H 2,950.00
Bill Pmt -Check 04/17/12019 3357 Cily of Houston - Water Drainage Fee 318.81
Bill Pmt -Check 04/1712019 3358 Cily of Houston - Waler Drainage Fee 145,40
Bill Pmt -Check 04/17/2019 3359 Cily of Houston - Water Drainage Fee 47.50
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3360 CCPPI Afford Hous Initalive - Operations Draw 1
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3361 TransTeQ MARCH 201¢ LAWN SERVICE
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3362 CORTEZ LANDSCAPING, LLC Landscape Services
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3363 Hou Homes Complelion Reimbursement
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3364 Houston Business Development Inc. Demolition and clearing 19,392.62
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3365 KCK Demolition and Landscaping Demo at 6912 Calhoun St 15,000.00
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3366 POWER, LLC Demolition
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3367 Roberta F. Bumoughs & Associales March 23 - April 21
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3368 POWER, LLC Landscape
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3369 KCK Demolition and Landscaping
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3370 UNIVERSAL HOUSING SOLUTIONS
Bill Pmt -Check 04/30/2019 3371 Bracewell LLP

Total 104021 - WF Afford Hous 3927







&
i

1AC

ANTINY
. LACALLE




State of tiie Brand




6 Fronts!

Office workers & Commuters.

Office workers & Commuters.

Office workers & Commuters.

Household quick serve dine in and
take out.

Party goers and “Taco runs” 18 to 45 year old
Multi-Cultural guests.

Currently about 20% of the overall business
servicing 8 different delivery service
platforms.




BRAND DNA




| \\\%\\g\\\\\\\g\g\\\\..\\\\gg\\aﬁ\n\\\\g

et e s e ot s et . et e iy

‘ N DINING ROOM
EXISTING CORRIDOR y

HOBILE FLR. FINISH
GRABMGO | TRANSITION
STATIONS

EXISTING
ADA RAKP

—
=,
O
S
<<
==
=
<
-
—
<
Ll
oc
oc
-
o




OUR REPUTATION 4.5+ Stars.

In less than 2 years we have acquired more than 1,000 5 star
reviews among the top reputation platforms.

@‘T" 4.6 out of 5 - Based on the La Call.e TaCOS
53 opinion of 520 people
¥y S0 rcviaws

909 Franklin St, Houston, TX %7002

4.5

EBxcellient R
Very good )
Average [l

Faor

Terrible

La Calle Tacos & "La
Cantina’, by La Calle

Website Directions

534 Google reviews

La Calle Tacos

319 reviews

$ - Tacos, Breakfast & Brunch




SOME RECOGNITION

In less than 2 years we have been featured in several “Best of”
publications alongside places like Hugos, Caracol, Xochitl and a few
food shows on TV Azteca and Univision.

“What's Good in Your Hood” .- Season 2 Sea Finale (airs Aug/28/18)
“Best Traditional Taco”.- n Press Tacoladia.
"The 15 Best Places for Tacos” .- Foursq

“15 Essential Houston Taquerias”.- Houston Eater.

“Best places in Houston” .- The Goop.

“10 Spots to celebrate 5 de mayo”.- Community Impact.
“Houston’s Best Tacos” .- Houston Chron.

“Best Breakfast Tacos in Houston”.- Houston Chron.

“28 Tacos in Houston to eat before you die”. Houston Magazine.
“Best New Years Eve Event” .- Paper City.

“Hotbed of innovation in Quick Service”.- QSR Magazine.

“Best Places to Eat in Houston” .- Houston Public Media.
“Must Hit 11 Happy Hours in Downtown”.- Downtown District.




mzi'nm In I‘hun.len\'ou m;;t Enl.‘Bl!am' ’
You ble

" The 15 Best Places for Tacos in
Bowntown Houston, Houston EResEang

=y o=

What's Soad: La Calle Tacos and Canting [ TV« e R
Dt siatinmreiices pav
Samos Tewas. La Calle Tacan

Posded by Azteca Amenca Houstan
31055 Vigws .

4 Chron

TAT) ot el i

‘Where to find the best brealfast tacos In Houston

o et vt e g

-t B I
Ty I {‘-1 Stob g 0 ot W et 10 spots ta celebrate Clnco de Maya in Houston this

) N eshonduap /i SEY 11 Must-Hit Happy Hours in
Gl e . | Downtown This Spring

21 waus
The Full Menu: Best Places to Fat
in Downtown Hauston

MLATIED
Dou't settle for anything but Houston's best tacos

Housion's Best New Year's
5O e e Events

Taces; Allotoed of Innovalion in Quizh Sevice
- -

[H=Tule]

LA G Vi o Pirwlnarsod d Asetimn T b

15 Essential Houston Taquerias

Wbt 2 Bl 1 e o e i




21575 o]0

e ————— e —

LF}I

f

folLow US
e T B

@8 H®

-

lack Dorsev
Twitter
Founder and CEO

¢ =

In Houston for #GraceHeppar and found this
place La Calle. Amazing tacos and vibe ©
- (this thread on Houston food is also amazing)

@@ Alexa
oL

T2 T S QQGGGQQQG

®

Mark Zuckengerg
Facebook
Founder and CEO

Sheryl Sandberg
Facebook




OWNERS RESUME.-

Owner & Operator PASSION FOR THE BUSINESS
Grew up in family owned business. An iconic restaurant
. in Mexico City from the early 60’s to the late 80's.

25+ years of multiunit experience.
sBachelors degree in Hotel and Restaurant Administration.

sOperator of the year for TGIFriday’s.

sBurger King in Mexico City:

eDirector of Operations

eln charge of up to 15 high volume units at a time

sFast food experience

eDirector of the year

sExperienced transition from private to publicly traded company

eDirector of Operations and Process Improvement

oln charge of 9 $6.5 MM AUV restaurants

*Fast Casual experience

sVery well built brand. This Los Angeles, CA brand is iconic amongst first generation
Mexicans resulting in a feeling of being “home away from home.” “La Calle” was
conceptualized there.




ICONIC BRAND EXPERIENCE

ii?i\Y'S E
S US

eDirector of Operations for flahship region

sIn charge of nine $4.5 MM AUV restaurants

eCasual Dining experience

sExperienced the revitalization of the brand with the execution of the “good to Great
in 08” business plan

sDirector of Operations for flagship region

eln charge of up to 15 $3.5 MM AUV restaurants

sExperienced the revitalization of the brand through “The Perfect J oe’s
sExperience” business plan resulting in 15 quarters of positive sales

4 i €3
. q.lt’}a {-—;_\_
d | Coe

20588 cantind eDirector of Operations for flagship region
o“Breasturant” segment experience
oIn charge of four $5.5 MM AUV Restaurants
*Brand concept buitt around providing an “away from home” experience for the
Hispanic market
*Past if Front Burmer brands: Twin Peaks, Velvet Taco, Whiskey Keg, Mooyah
Burgers
Brands build around Great DNA’s







CARR Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC
Y/, RIGES & Two Riverway, 15th Floor
:&\ INGRAM Huuston, TX 77056

CPAs and Advisors (713) 621-8090

(713) 621-6907 (tax)
wWw.cricpa.com

April 10, 2019

Midtown Redevelopment Authority
410 Pierce Street, Suite 355
Houston, Texas 77002

We are pleased to confirm our understanding of the terms of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we are to provide for Midtown Redevelopment Authority (the Authority).

We will apply the agreed-upon procedures listed in the attached schedule that were specifiedand
agreed to by the Authority (specified party) on evaluating compliance withfcohtracts and agreements
related to the Authority’s Capital Improvement Plan and Affordable Housing projects (the Projects) as of
and for the year ending June 30, 2019. Our engagement to apply.agreed-upon procedures will be
conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The sufficiency of the procedures performed orto be performed is solely the
responsibility of the Authority and we will sfequire,an acknowledgment in writing of that responsibility.
Consequently, we make no representation regarding theysufficiency of the procedures described in the
attached schedule either for the purpose for\which “the agreed-upon procedures report has been
requested or for any other purpose.

Because the agreed-upon procedures listed in the attached schedule do not constitute an examination
or review, we will not express anhopinion or conclusion on the Projects. In addition, we have no
obligation to perform any procedures beyond those listed in the attached schedule.

We plan to begin our procedures on approximately November 15, 2019 and, unless unforeseeable
problems are encountered, the engagement should be completed by January 31, 2020.

We will issue a writtenyreport upon completion of ourengagement that lists the procedures performed
and our findings. Our reportWill be addressed to Midtown Redevelopment Authority. If, for any reason,
we are unable to complete any of the procedures, we will describe in our report any restrictions on the
performance of the procedures, or not issue a report and withdraw from this engagement. You
understand that the report is‘intended solely for the information and use of the Authority, and should
not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. Our report will contain a paragraph indicating
that had we performed additional “procedures, other matters might have come to our attention that
would have been reported to you.

An agreed-upon procedures engagement is not designed to detect instances of fraud or noncompliance
with laws or regulations; however, we will communicate to you any known and suspected fraud and
noncompliance with laws or regulations affecting the Projects that come to our attention. In addition, if,
in connection'\with this engagement, matters come to our attention that contradict the Projects, we will
disclose those matters in our report.

You are responsible for identifying the contracts and agreements related to the Projects and for
selecting the criteria and procedures and determining that such criteria and procedures are appropriate
for your purposes. You are also responsible for, and agree to provide us with, a written assertion about
the Projects. In addition, you are responsible for providing us with (1) access to all information of which



Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Page 2 of 4

you are aware that is relevant to the performance of the agreed-upon procedures on the subject matter,
(2) additional information that we may request for the purpose of performing the agreed-upon
procedures, and (3) unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom we determine it
necessary to obtain evidence relating to performing those procedures.

At the conclusion of our engagement, we will require certain written representations in the form of a
representation letter from management that, among other things, will confirm management’s
responsibility for the Projects.

Alyssa Hill is the engagement partner and is responsible for supervising the engagement,and signing the
report or authorizing another individual to sign it.

We estimate that our fees for these services will be $9,800. You will also be billed for travel and other
out-of-pocket costs such as report production, word processing, postage, etc. Additional expenses are
estimated to be $200. The fee estimate is based on anticipatedfcooperation from your personnel and
the assumption that unexpected circumstances will not bedencountered during the engagement. If
significant additional time is necessary, we will discuss itfwith you and arrive,at a new fee estimate
before we incur the additional costs. Our invoices for these fees will be rendered each month as work
progresses and are payable on presentation. In accordance with our firm policies, work may be
suspended if your account becomes 60 or more overdue and will not be resumed until your account is
paid in full. If we elect to terminate our services for nonpayment, ouriengagement will be deemed to
have been completed upon written notification,of termination even if we have not completed our
report. You will be obligated to compensate us for all time expended and to reimburse us for all out-or-
pocket expenditures through the date of termination.

Dispute Resolution

In the event of a dispute between the parties which arises out of or relates to this contract or
engagement letter, the breach thereof or the services provided or to be provided hereunder, if the
dispute cannot be settled through negotiation, the parties agree that before initiating arbitration,
litigation or other diSpute resolution procedure, they will first try, in good faith, to resolve the dispute
through non-binding mediation. All parties agree that'an alternative form of dispute resolution shall not
be undertaken by either party until the expiration of fifteen (15) calendar days following notice being
provided to the other partyqndicating that the dispute cannot be settled through mediation. The
mediation will be administéred by the American Arbitration Association under its Dispute Resolution
Rules foriProfessional Accounting and Related Services Disputes. The costs of any mediation proceedings
shall be shared equally by all' parties.

Electronic Data Communication and Storage and Use of Third Party Service Provider

In the interest of facilitating our services to your company, we may send data over the Internet, securely
store electronic data via computer software applications hosted remotely on the Internet, or allow
access to data through third-party vendors’ secured portals or clouds. Electronic data that is confidential
to your,company may be transmitted or stored using these methods. We may use third-party service
providers to store of transmit this data, such as, but not limited to, providers of tax return preparation
software. In using these data communication and storage methods, our firm employs measures
designed to maintain data security. We use reasonable efforts to keep such communications and data
access secure in accordance with our obligations under applicable laws and professional standards. We
also require our third-party vendors to do the same.

You recognize and accept that we have no control over, and shall not be responsible for, the
unauthorized interception or breach of any communications or data once it has been sent or has been



Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Page 3 of 4

subject to unauthorized access, notwithstanding all reasonable security measures employed by us or our
third-party vendors. You consent to our use of these electronic devices and applications and submission
of confidential client information to third-party service providers during this engagement.

To enhance our services to you, we will use a combination of remote access, secure file transfer, virtual
private network or other collaborative, virtual workspace or other online tools or environments. Access
through any combination of these tools allows for on-demand and/or real-time collaboration across
geographic boundaries and time zones and allows CRI and you to share data, engagement information,
knowledge, and deliverables in a protected environment. In order to use certain of these tools and in
addition to execution of this acknowledgement and engagement letter, you may be required to execute
a separate client acknowledgement or agreement and agree to be bound by the terms, conditions and
limitations of such agreement. You agree that CRI has no responsibilityfor the activities of its third-party
vendors supplying these tools and agree to indemnify and hold CRIsharmless with respect to any and all
claims arising from or related to the operation of these tools{ While we may back up yourfilesito
facilitate our services, you are solely responsible for the backup of your files and records; therefore, we
recommend that you also maintain your own backup files of these records. Intthe event you suffer a loss
of any files or records due to accident, inadvertent mistake, or Act of Gad, copies of which you have
provided to us pursuant to this agreement, we shall not be respensible or obligated to provide you a
copy of any such file or record which we may retain in our possession.

We appreciate the opportunity to assist you and believe this letter accurately summarizes the significant
terms of our engagement. If you have any questions;please let us know. If you agree with the terms of
our engagement as described in this letter, please sign the'enclosed copy and return it to us. If the need
for additional procedures arises, or the procedures needto be meodified, our agreement with you will
need to be revised. It is customary for us to enumerate these revisions innan addendum to this letter. If
additional specified parties of the report are added, wé will require that they acknowledge in writing
their agreement with the procedures performed or‘to be performed and their responsibility for the
sufficiency of procedures!

Very truly yours,

CJAM lﬂﬁu ‘5‘ J"?Adon)_, Le.C

Houston, Texas

RESPONSE:

This letter correctly sets forth the understanding of Midtown Redevelopment Authority.

By:

Title:

Date:




Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Page 4 of 4

Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Agreed-Upon Procedures

1. Obtain listing of all construction and related contracts/agreements and affordable housing grant
agreements, as identified by the Authority, to be included in the scope of the agreed-upon
procedures engagement for the years ending June 30, 2019.

2. Obtain all construction and related contracts/agreements and amendments for contracts and
agreements identified in procedure one.

3. Inspect supporting documentation (including invoices,(certificates for payment, and cancelled
checks) for amounts paid to architects, engineérs, constructiongcontractors, and other
professionals for each contract identified in procédure one for compliance with contract terms
and mathematical accuracy.

4. Compare certificates of insurance coverage “for compliance with executed
contracts/agreements.

5. Inspect change orders and other modifications to contracts/agreements.for proper approval.
6. Inspect supporting documentation (including invoices, certificates for payment, and cancelled

checks) for compliance with terms of grant agreements for affordable housing projects
identified in procedure one)if any.



CARR Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC
/l RIGGS & Two Riverway, 15th Floer
=&\ INGRAM Houston, TX 77056

CPAs and Advisors (713) 621-8090

(713) 621-6907 (fax)
www.cricpa.com

April 10, 2019

To Board of Directors and Management
Midtown Redevelopment Authority
410 Pierce Street Suite 355

Houston, Texas 77002

We are pleased to confirm our understanding of the services we are to provide Midtown Redevelopment
Authority (the “Authority”} for the year ending June 30, 20194We will audit the financial statements of
the governmental activities and each major fund, includingthe related notes t6 the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the basic financial statements, of\Midtown Redevelopment Authority as of
and for the year ending June 30, 2019. Accounting standards generallyaccepted in the United States of
America provide for certain required supplementary information (RSI), such as management’s discussion
and analysis (MD&A), to supplement the Authority’s basic financial, statements. Such information,
although not a part of the basic financials/statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essentialypart of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, ‘@conomic, or historical context. As part of our
engagement, we will apply certain limited procedures to the Authority’s RSI in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States.of America. These limited procedures will consist of
inquiries of management regarding the methods offpreparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency'with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements,
and other knowledge weé obtained during our audit'of the basic financial statements. We will not express
an opinion or providé any assurance on the information \because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient@vidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. The following RSl is required
by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles,.and will'be subjected to certain limited procedures, but
will not be audited:

1) Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
2) 4Budgetary Comparison Schedule — All Funds

The following other information accompanying the financial statements will not be subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in our audit of the financial statements, and our auditor’s report will not
provide an opinion or any assurance on that other information.

1) Schedule of Operating Expenses and Capital Expenditures

2) “Schedule of Estimated Project Costs to Actual Expenditures (Project Plan reconciliation)
3) Schedule of Properties Held — Land Held for Resale

4) Schedule of Capital Assets

Audit Objective

The objective of our audit is the expression of opinions as to whether your financial statements are fairly
presented, in all material respects, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Our audit
will be conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of



Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Page 2 of 6

America and will include tests of the accounting records and other procedures we consider necessary to
enable us to express such opinions. We will issue a written report upon completion of our audit of the
Authority’s financial statements. Our report will be addressed to the Board of Directors of the Authority.
We cannot provide assurance that unmodified opinions will be expressed. Circumstances may arise in
which it is necessary for us to modify our opinions or add emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraphs.
If our opinions are other than unmodified, we will discuss the reasons with you in advance. If, for any
reason, we are unable to complete the audit or are unable to form or have not formed opinions, we may
decline to express opinions or may withdraw from this engagement.

Audit Procedures—General

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements; therefore, our audit will involve judgment about the number of transactions to be
examined and the areas to be tested. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting@stimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We will plamand perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial(statements are frée of material misstatement,
whether from (1) errors, (2) fraudulent financial reporting, (3) misappropriation of assets, or (4) violations
of laws or governmental regulations that are attributable to the government or to acts by management
or employees acting on behalf of the government.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, combined with the inherentlimitations of internal control,
and because we will not perform a detailed examination,of all transactions, there is a risk that material
misstatements may exist and not be detected by us, even though the audit is properly planned and
performed in accordance with U.S. generally'accepted auditing standards. In addition, an audit is not
designed to detect immaterial misstatements, ar violations of laws or governmental regulations that do
not have a direct and material.effect on the financial statements. However, we will inform the appropriate
level of management of any material errors, fraudulent financial reporting, or misappropriation of assets
that comes to our attention. We will also inform the appropriate level of management of any violations
of laws or governmental regulations that come to ‘our attention, unless clearly inconsequential. Our
responsibility asauditors is limitedto the period covered by our audit and does not extend to any later
periods for which weare not engaged as auditors:

Our procedures will'include tests of documentary evidence supporting the transactions recorded in the
accounts, __and direct_confirmation of receivables and certain other assets and liabilities by
correspondence with selected individuals, funding sources, creditors, and financial institutions. We will
réquest written‘representations from your attorneys as part of the engagement, and they may bill you for
responding to this inquiry. At the conclusion of our audit, we will require certain written representations
from you about the financial statements and related matters.

Audit Procedures—Internal Control

Our audit will include/obtaining an understanding of the government and its environment, including
internal control, sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and to
designthe naturej timing, and extent of further audit procedures. An audit is not designed to provide
assurance on internal control or to identify deficiencies in internal control. Accordingly, we will express
no such opinion. However, during the audit, we will communicate to management and those charged with
governance internal control related matters that are required to be communicated under AICPA
professional standards.



Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Page 3 of 6

Audit Procedures—Compliance

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, we will perform tests of the Authority’s compliance with the provisions of applicable laws,
regulations, contracts, and agreements. However, the objective of our audit will not be to provide an
opinion on overall compliance and we will not express such an opinion.

Other Services

We will assist in preparing the financial statements of the Authority in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles based on information provided by you. We will also assist in preparing the
fixed asset rollforward to present information on the full accrual basis{of accounting, the retainage
payable schedule, and adjustments to present financial information omthe two basis of accounting. We
will perform the services in accordance with applicable professional.standards. The other services are not
limited to the financial statement preparation, preparation of fixed asset rollforward, retainage payable
and adjustments to present financial information on the two basis of accounting services previously
defined. We, in our sole professional judgment, reserve thé right to refuse to‘perform any procedure or
take any action that could be construed as assuming management responsibilities.

Management Responsibilities

Management is responsible for designing, implementing, and maintaining effective internal controls
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements, that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, including,monitoring ongoing activities; for the selection
and application of accounting principles; and for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Management is also responsible for making all financialtrecords and related information available to us
and for the accuracy and completeness of that information. You are also responsible for providing us with
(1) access to all information of which you are ‘aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements, (2) additional information that we may request for the purpose
of the audit, and (3) unrestricted access to persons within the government from whom we determine it
necessary to obtain audit evidences

Your responsibilities include adjusting the financial statements to correct material misstatements and
confirming to us in“the ymanagement representation letter that the effects of any uncorrected
misstatements. aggregated by us during the current engagement and pertaining to the latest period
presented are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a
whole.

You are responsible for the design and implementation of programs and controls to prevent and detect
fraud, and for informing us about all known or suspected fraud affecting the government involving (1)
management, (2) employees who have significant roles in internal control, and (3) others where the fraud
could have a material effect on the financial statements. Your responsibilities include informing us of your
knowledge of any_allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the government received in
communications «from employees, former employees, regulators, or others. In addition, you are
responsible_for identifying and ensuring that the government complies with applicable laws and
regulations.

You are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.



Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Page 4 of 6

You agree to assume all management responsibilities for financial statement preparation services, fixed
asset rollforward, retainage payable, adjusting entries to present the two basis of accounting. and any
other nonattest services we provide; oversee the services by designating an individual, preferably from
senior management, with suitable skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluate the adequacy and results of
the services; and accept responsibility for them.

Dispute Resolution

In the event of a dispute between the parties which arises out of or relates to this contract or engagement
letter, the breach thereof or the services provided or to be provided hereundet, if the dispute cannot be
settled through negotiation, the parties agree that before initiating arbitration, litigation or ether dispute
resolution procedure, they will first try, in good faith, to resolve the dispute through non-binding
mediation. All parties agree that an alternative form of dispute resolution shall not be undertaken by
either party until the expiration of fifteen {15) calendar days following notice being provided to the other
party indicating that the dispute cannot be settled through mediation. The mediation will be administered
by the American Arbitration Association under its Dispute Resolution Rules for. Professional Accounting
and Related Services Disputes. The costs of any mediation proceedings shall be shared equally by all
parties.

Statute of Limitations

The parties agree that there shall be a one-year statute of limitation {from the delivery of the service or
termination of the contract) for the filing ofl@any requests for arbitration, lawsuit, or proceeding related to
this agreement. If such a claim is filed more than oneyear, or.the minimumdurational period having been
determined as permissible by applicable statutory law or bya courtiof competent jurisdiction, subsequent
to the delivery of the service or termination of the contractywhichever occurs first in time, then it shall be
precluded by this provision, regardless of whether or not the claim has accrued at that time.

Electronic Data Communication and Storage and Use of Third Party Service Provider

In the interest of facilitating our services to your company, we may send data over the Internet, securely
store electronic data via computer software applications hosted remotely on the Internet, or allow access
to data through.third-party vendors’ secured portals orclouds. Electronic data that is confidential to your
company may be transmitted orStored using theseimethods. We may use third-party service providers to
store or transmit this data, sdch as, but not limited to, providers of tax return preparation software. In
using these data communication and storage methods, our firm employs measures designed to maintain
datasSecurity. We use reasonable efforts to keep such communications and data access secure in
accordance with ournobligations under applicable laws and professional standards. We also require our
third-party vendors to do the same.

You recognize and accept that we have no control over, and shall not be responsible for, the unauthorized
interception or breach'|of any communications or data once it has been sent or has been subject to
unauthorized access, notwithstanding all reasonable security measures employed by us or our third-party
vendors. You consent to our use of these electronic devices and applications and submission of
confidential client information to third-party service providers during this engagement.

To enhance our'services to you, we will use a combination of remote access, secure file transfer, virtual
private netwark or other collaborative, virtual workspace or other online tools or environments. Access
through any combination of these tools allows for on-demand and/or real-time collaboration across
geographic boundaries and time zones and allows CRI and you to share data, engagement information,
knowledge, and deliverables in a protected environment. In order to use certain of these tools and in
addition to execution of this acknowledgement and engagement letter, you may be required to execute



Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Page 5 of 6

a separate client acknowledgement or agreement and agree to be bound by the terms, conditions and
limitations of such agreement. You agree that CRI has no responsibility for the activities of its third-party
vendors supplying these tools and agree to indemnify and hold CRI harmless with respect to any and all
claims arising from or related to the operation of these tools. While we may back up your files to facilitate
our services, you are solely responsible for the backup of your files and records; therefore, we recommend
that you also maintain your own backup files of these records. In the event you suffer adoss of any files or
records due to accident, inadvertent mistake, or Act of God, copies of which yousave provided to us
pursuant to this agreement, we shall not be responsible or obligated to providedyou a copy of any such
file or record which we may retain in our possession.

Engagement Administration, Fees, and Other

We understand that your employees will prepare all cash, accounts receivable, or other confirmations we
request and will locate any documents selected by us for testing. We will schedule the engagement based
in part on deadlines, working conditions, and the availability©f your key personnel. We will plan the
engagement based on the assumption that your personnel will cooperate and provide assistance by
performing tasks such as preparing requested schedules, retrieving supporting documents, and preparing
confirmations. If, for whatever reason, your personnel are unavailable toprovide the necessary assistance
in timely manner, it may substantially increase the work we ‘haveito do to complete the engagement
within the established deadlines, resulting in an increase in fees over our original fee estimate.

We expect to begin our audit on approximatelypAugust, 5, 2019 and'to issue our reports no later than
September 30, 2019. Alyssa Hill is the engagement partner and is responsible for supervising the
engagement and signing the report or authorizing another individual to sign'it.

Our fee for these services will be at our standard hourly rates plus out=of-pocket costs (such as report
reproduction, word processing, postage, travel, copies, telephone, etc.)as follows

Financial statement audit S 29,500
Estimated out-of-pocket costs 375

Our standard hourly rates vary according to the degree of responsibility involved and the experience level
of the personnél assigned to yourauditsOurinvoices for these fees will be rendered each month as work
progresses and are payable onpresentation. In accordance with our firm policies, work may be suspended
if your account becomes 60ays or more overdue and may not be resumed until your account is paid in
full. If werelect to terminate our services for nonpayment, our engagement will be deemed to have been
completed upon written notification of termination, even if we have not completed our report. You will
be obligated to compensate us for,all time expended and to reimburse us for all out-of-pocket costs
through the date of termination. The above fee is based on anticipated cooperation from your personnel
and the assumption that unexpected circumstances will not be encountered during the audit. If significant
additional time is necessary, we will discuss it with you and arrive at a new fee estimate before we incur
the additional costs.

We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to Midtown Redevelopment Authority and believe this
letter accurately summarizes the significant terms of our engagement. If you have any questions, please
let us know. Ifiyou agree with the terms of our engagement as described in this letter, please sign the
enclosed copy and return it to us.



Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Page 6 of 6

Very truly yours,

Cam, '?t'ﬂu £ Ingram, L

Houston, Texas

RESPONSE:

This letter correctly sets forth the understanding of Midtown Redevelopme

Management signature:

Title:

Date:

Governance signature:

Title:




CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

FORM 1295
1of1
Complete Nos. 1 - 4 and 6 if there are interested parties. OFFICE USE ONLY
Complete Nos. 1, 2, 3, 5, and 6 if there are no interested parties. CERTIFICATION OF FILING
1 Name of business entity filing form, and the city, state and country of the business entity's place Certificate Number:
of business. 2019-481152
Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC
Houston, TX United States Date Filed:
2 Name of governmental entity or state agency that is a party to the contract for which the form is 04/24/2019
being filed.
Midtown Redevelopment Authority Date Acknowledged:

3 Provide the identification number used by the governmental entity or state agency to trackr,identify the contract, and provide a
description of the services, goods, or other property to be provided under the contract.

2019 Audits
2019 Financial Statement Audit; 2019 Agreed-upon Procedures engagement

4 Nature of interést

Name of Interested Party City, State, Couniry (place ofbusiness) {check applicable)
Controlling Intermediary

Scott, Mike Panama City, FL United States X

Schumpert, Scoft Nashville, TN United States X

Hawkins, George Houston, TXUnited States ' X

Christensen, Jennifer N OrlandogFL Uhited States X

Bollinger, Kelly Atlanta, GA United States X

Barksdale, Brian Birmingham, AL United States X

Carr, William Enterprise, AL United States X

5 Check only if there is NO Interested Party. I:I

6 UNSWORN DECLARATION
My name is pﬁ\I;%L H J l—( . and my date of birth is [\'9“9! ’q 7%
My addressiis T_VUD Q;WWM + lS_ImFLD\]{Z‘ H‘DYKT*W\ , TIX , -—)’105(0 . USA‘

(strest) (city) (state) (zip code) {country)

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed in Hﬂfﬁ' '|§ County, State of Tgﬂ(ls . on the 9‘2 day of é& ;1 , 20 / i .

nth) (year)
A a4 0

Signature of guthprized agent of contracting business entity
(Declarant)

Forms provided by Texas Ethics Commission www.ethics.state.tx.us Version V1.1.39f8039¢






UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT

1. PARTIES: The parties to this contract are MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY, a Texas non-profit local government corporation (Seller) and The NHP
FOUNDATION, a District of Columbia nonprofit corporation (Buyer). Seller agrees to sell
and convey to Buyer and Buyer agrees to buy from Seller the Property.defined below.

2, PROPERTY: The property described on attached Exhibit A, together with all rights,
privileges and appurtenances pertaining thereto, including butiot limited to: water rights,
claims, permits, strips and gores, easements, and cooperative or association‘memberships

(the “Property”).
3. SALES PRICE:

A. Cash Portion of Sales Price $10.00
Payable by Buyer at Closing

B. Sum of all financing described below (excluding any loan $0
funding fee or mortgage insurance premium)

C. Sales Price (Sum of A and B) $10.00
4. FINANCING (Not for use with reverse mortgage financing): Not Applicable

5. EARNEST MONEY.: Upon execution of'contract by all parties, Buyer shall deposit
$10.00 as earnest'money with Chicaga Title of Texas, as escrow agent, at 3700 Buffalo
Speedway. Suite 400, Houston, Texas 77098: Attention: Janet Karr. If Buyer fails to
deposit the@arnest money [as required by this\contract, Buyer will be in default.

6. TITLE POLICY ANDSURVEY:

A. TITLE POLICY : Seller shall furnish to Buyer at Buyer’s expense an owner policy
of title insurance (Title Policy) issued by Chicago Title of Texas (Title Company),
dated at or after closing, insuring Buyer against loss under the provisions of the
Title,Policy, subject to the promulgated exclusions (including existing building and
zoningordinances) and the following exceptions:

) Restrictive covenants common to the platted subdivision in which the
Property is located.

2) The standard printed exception for standby fees, taxes and assessments.
3) Liens created as part of the financing described in Paragraph 4.

4) Utility easements created by the dedication deed or plat of the subdivision
in which the Property is located.

Initialed for identification by Buyer __ and Seller
UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 1
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



5 Reservations or exceptions otherwise permitted by this contract or as may
be approved by Buyer in writing.

©) The standard printed exception as to marital rights.

@) The standard printed exception as to waters, tidelands, bedches, streams and
related matters.

® The standard printed exception as to discrepangies, conflicts,ishortages in
area, or boundary lines, encroachments or protrusions, or overlapping
improvements will not be amended or deleted,from the title policy.

B. COMMITMENT: At least 60 days prior to thé Closing Date, Buyer shall obtain, at
Buyer’s expense, a commitment for title insurance (Commitment) and, at Buyer’s
expense, legible copies of restrictiy€é covenants and’ decuments evidencing
exceptions in the Commitment (ExceptionyDocumeiits) other than the standard
printed exceptions. Seller authorizes the Title Company to deliver the Commitment
and Exception Documents to Buyer at Buyer®s address shown in Paragraph 21. If
the Commitment and Exception Documents are not delivered to Buyer within the
specified time, the time for delivery will be automatically extended up to 15 days,
but not later than 5 days before the Closing Date. If, due toxfactors beyond Seller’s
control, the Commitment and\Exception Documents are not delivered within the
time required, Buyer may terminate this contract and, the earnest money will be
refunded to Buyer. Copies of the,Commitment and"Exception Documents shall be
provided todSellernpromptly upon réceipt by Buyer.

C. SURVEY: The survey must be made by a registered professional land surveyor
acegeptable to the Title Company and Buyer. At least 60 days prior to the Closing
Date, Buyer shall obtain a new survey at Buyer’s expense. Buyer is deemed to
receive the sufvey on the datepof actual receipt or the date specified in this
paragraph, whichever is earlier. Copies of the Survey shall be provided to Seller
Promptly upon receipt by Buyer.

D. OBIJECTIONS:)Buyer may object in writing to (1) defects, exceptions, or
encumbrances to title: disclosed on the survey other than items 6A(1) through (7)
above; or disclosed in the Commitment other than items 6A(1) through (8) above;
(ii) any portion of the Property lying in a special flood hazard area (Zone V or A)
as shown on the current Federal Emergency Management Agency map; Or (iii) any
exceptions which prohibit the following use or activity: N/A. Buyer must object at
the earlier of (i) the Closing Date or (ii) 10 days after Buyer receives the
Commitment, Exception Documents, and the survey. Buyer’s failure to object
within the time allowed will constitute a waiver of Buyer’s right to object; except
that the requirements in Schedule C of the Commitment are not waived. Provided
Seller is not obligated to incur any expense, Seller shall cure the timely objections
of Buyer or any third party lender within 15 days after Seller receives the objections
and the Closing Date will be extended as necessary. If objections are not cured

Initialed for identification by Buyer _ and Seller
UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 2
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



within such 15 day period, Buyer shall have the option to terminate this contract
and have the earnest money refunded to Buyer or waive the objections.

E. TITLE

M

@

3

NOTICES:

ABSTRACT OR TITLE POLICY: Seller advises Buyer40 have an abstract
of title covering the Property examined by an attorney®©f Buyer’s selection,
or Buyer should be furnished with or obtain a Title'Policy. If a title Policy
is furnished, the Commitment should be promptly reviewed by,an attorney
of Buyer’s choice due to the time limitations on‘Buyer’s right to object.

MEMBERSHIP IN PROPERTY OWNERS ASSOCIATION(S): ‘The
Property is not subject to mandatory membership in a property ownets
association(s). If the Property is#ubject to mandatory membership in a
property owners association(s)¢Seller notifies Buyer under §5.012, Texas
Property Code, that, as a purchaser of property/in the residential community
identified in Paragraph 2 in which the Property is located, you are obligated
to be a member of the owners association(s). Restrictive covenants
governing the usegand occupancy of the Property and all dedicatory
instruments governing theyestablishment maintenance, and operation of this
residential community have beeémyor will be recorded in the Real Property
Records of the county in which the"Property is'located. Copies of the
restrictive covenants'and dedicatory instrument,may be obtained from the
county clerk. You are ebligated to pay assessments to the property
owalers association(s). The amount of the assessments is subject to
¢hange. Your failure to pay the assessments could result in enforcement
of the association’s lien on and the foreclosure of the Property.

Section 207.003, Property Code, entitles an owner to receive copies of any
document that governs theyestablishment, maintenance, or operation of a
subdivision, including, but not limited to, restrictions, bylaws, rules and
regulations, and a resale certificate from a property owners’ association. A
resale \certificate contains information including, but not limited to,
statements specifying the amount and frequency of regular assessments and
the style and cause number of lawsuits to which the property owners’
associationis a party, other than lawsuits relating to unpaid ad valorem taxes
of an individual member of the association. These documents must be made
available to you by the property owners’ association or the association’s
agent on your request.

If Buyer is concerned about these matters, the TREC promulgated
Addendum for Property Subject to Mandatory Membership in a
Property Owner’s Association should be used.

STATUTORY TAX DISTRICTS: If the Property is situated in a utility or
other statutorily created district providing water, sewer, drainage, or flood
control facilities and services, Chapter 49, Texas Water Code requires Seller

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller___~

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 3

71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



“4)

&)

©)

(7

to deliver and Buyer to sign the statutory notice relating to the tax rate,
bonded indebtedness, or standby fee of the district prior to final execution
of this contract.

TIDEWATERS: If the Property abuts the tidally influenced waters of the
state, §33.135, Texas Natural Resources Code, requiresd@ notice regarding
coastal area property to be included in the contract. An addendum
containing the notice promulgated by TREC or required by the parties must
be used.

ANNEXATION: If the Property is located outside the limitsyof a
municipality, Seller notifies Buyer undef §5.011, Texas Property Code, that
the Property may now or later be incliided in the extraterritorial jurisdiction
of a municipality and may now_©r later be subjeet to annexation by the
municipality. Each municipality maintains a map#that depicts its boundaries
and extraterritorial jurisdiction."To determine if the Property is located
within a municipality’s extraterritorial jurisdiction or is likely to be located
within a municipality’s extraterritorial jurisdiction, contact all
municipalities located, in the general proximity, of the Property for further
information.

PROPERTY LOCATED IN A"CERTIFICATED SERVICE AREA OF A
UTILITY SERVICE PROVIDER: Netice required by §13.257, Water
Code: The real property, described in Paragraph 2, that you are about to
purchase may be located in @ certificated water or sewer service area, which
is authorized by law to provide water or sewer service to the properties in
the certificated area. If your property is located in a certificated area there
may be special costs or chargesithat you well be required to pay before you
can receive water. or sewer service. There may be a period required to
construct lines or other facilities necessary to provide water or sewer service
to, your property. You are advised to determine if the property is in a
certificated area and contact the utility service provider to determine the
cost that you will be required to pay and the period, if any, that is required
to provide,water or sewer service to your property. The undersigned Buyer
hereby acknewledges receipt of the foregoing notice at or before the
execution of a binding contract for the purchase of the real property
described in Paragraph 2 or at closing of purchase of the real property.

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICTS: If the Property is in a public
improvement district, §5.014, Property Code, requires Seller to notify
Buyer as follows: As a purchaser of this parcel of real property you are
obligated to pay an assessment to a municipality or county for an
improvement project undertaken by a public improvement district under
Subchapter A, Chapter 372, Local Government Code, or Chapter 382. The
assessment may be due annually or in periodic installments. More
information concerning the amount of the assessment and the due dates of

that assessment may be obtained from the municipality or county levying
Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 4

71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



the assessment. The amount of the assessments is subject to change. Your
failure to pay the assessments could result in a lien on and the foreclosure
of your property.

(8) TEXAS AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT:The property is
not located in a Texas Agricultural District. For additional information,
contact the Texas Department of Agriculture.

) TRANSFER FEES: If the Property is subject'to a private ‘transfer fee
obligation, §5205, Property Code, requires Seller to notify Buyer as
follows: The private transfer fee obligation'may be governed by Chapter 5,
Subchapter G of the Texas Property Code.

(10) PROPANE GAS SYSTEM SERVICE AREA: If the Property is located'in
a propane gas system service aféa owned by a distribution system retailer,
Seller must give Buyer written notice as required by §141.010, Texas
Utilities Code. An addendum containing,the notice approved by TREC or
required by the parties should be used.

Seller shall furnish to buyer, atiseller’s expense, a‘copy. of the vesting deed into
seller within seven (7) days after executien of this contract:

7. PROPERTY CONDITION:

A.

ACCESS, INSPECTIONS ANDWUTILITIES: Seller shall permit Buyer and
Buyer’ssagents and representatives the right to enter the Property at reasonable
timesdafter date of this Contract'through the Closing Date. Buyer shall have the
right to inspect the Property from the date hereof and continuing for two hundred
and forty (240) days (the “Inspection Period”). Buyer shall have the right to
terminate this Contract at anyitime during the Inspection Period. Buyer may have
the Propertyfinspected by inspectors selected by Buyer and licensed by TREC or
otherwise permitted by law to make inspections to conduct tests and inspections,
including Phase I environmental studies (and if recommended by the Phase I, a
Phase II environmental study), surveys, preliminary engineering, site planning, soil
boring, tests and other appropriate inspections and tests Buyer deems necessary;
provided that Buyer (i) provides Seller with prior notice of the proposed time and
nature of any such studies, tests and inspections; (ii) conducts such studies, tests
and inspections during normal business hours at times reasonably approved by
Seller; (iii) if reasonably requested by Seller, conducts such studies, tests and
inspéetions in the presence of a representative of Seller (provided that the presence
of such a representative shall not be a condition precedent to conducting such tests
and inspections if Buyer otherwise complies with clauses (i) and (ii) above); and
(iv) promptly provides Seller with copies of written reports received from its
contractors arising out of such studies, tests and inspections. In the event either
Buyer or Seller rightfully terminates this Agreement prior to Closing Date or this
Contract expires without a Closing, Buyer shalt promptly repair any material
damages to the Property caused by Buyer’s inspections or testing of the Property,

Initialed for identification by Buyer _ and Seller______

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 5

71053296v6

71053296v.9 0054364/00000



restore the Property to substantially the same or better condition than existed prior
to such inspections or testing and indemnify and hold Buyer harmless for any
and all actual claims and damages arising in connection with such inspections
or testing; provided, however, that in no event shall the scope of the foregoing
indemnification obligations include (x) claims or damages arisingout of the acts or
omissions of Seller or its agents, employees, contractors or other representatives,
(y) any diminution in value to the Property unless such dimifution, in value results
from acts or omissions of Buyer or its agents, employees, contractors or other
representatives, nor (z) the mere discovery of existing'eonditions‘in, 6n or under
the Property.

NOTICE: Buyer should determine the availability of utilities to the Property
suitable to satisfy Buyer’s needs.

ACCEPTANCE OF PROPERTY CONDITION: “A$§ Is” means the present
condition of the Property with any and all defects and without warranty except for
the warranties of title and the warranties in this¢Contract. Buyer’s agreement to
accept the Property As Is under Paragraph 7B*(1) or (2) does not preclude Buyer
from inspecting the Propetty, under Paragraph 7A, from negotiating repairs or
treatments in a subsequent amendment, or from terminating this contract during the
Option Period, if any.

(D Buyer accepts the Property “As is, where is andiwith all faults” in its present
condition.

COMPEETION"OF REPAIRS: Unless otherwise agreed in writing: Seller is not
obligated to do any repairs or treatments to the Property.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS: Buyer is advised that the presence of wetlands,
toxicsubstances, including asbéstos,and wastes or other environmental hazards, or
the presenceof a threatened orendangered species or its habitat may affect Buyer’s
intended use of the Property. If Buyer is concerned about these matters, an
addendum promulgated by TREC or required by the parties should be used.

SELLER’S DISCLOSURES: Except as otherwise disclosed in this contract, Seller
has no actual knowledge of the following:

(1) any flooding of the Property which has had a material adverse effect on the
use of the Property;

2) any pending or threatened litigation, condemnation, or special assessment
affecting the Property;

3) any environmental hazards that materially and adversely affect the
Property;

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT -~ PAGE 6

71053296v6

71053296v.9 0054364/00000



4)

)

(6)

any dumpsite, landfill, or underground tanks or containers now or
previously located on the Property;

any wetlands, as defined by federal or state law or regulation,affecting the
Property; or

any threatened or endangered species or their habitat, affecting the Property.

8. BROKERS’ FEES: All obligations of the parties for payment of brokers’ fees are
contained in separate written agreements.

9. CLOSING:

A. The closing of the sale must occur on or béfore twenty four months following the
Effective Date hereof. (Closing Date)d The Closing Date )may be extended by

mutual

agreement of the parties. If either party fails toglose this sale by the Closing

Date (including any extension of said Closing Date); the non-defaulting party may
exercise the remedies contained in Paragraphl3.

B. AT CLOSING:

(1

@

3)

“4)

Seller shall execute'and delivera speeial warranty'deed, in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit B,'conveying title to thésProperty to Buyer and showing
no additional exceptions to those permitted in Paragraph 6 and furnish tax
statements or certificates showing no delinquent taxes on the Property.

Buyer shall pay the Sales price in good funds acceptable to the escrow
agent.

Seller and Buyergpshall execute and deliver any notices, statements,
certificates, affidavits, releases, loan documents and other documents
reasonably required for the closing of the sale and the issuance of the Title
Policy.

Therewilbbe no liens, assessments, or security interests against the Property
which will net be satisfied out of the sales proceeds unless securing the
payment of'any loans assumed by Buyer and assumed loans will not be in
default.

10. » POSSESSION:

A. Buyer’s Possession: Seller shall deliver to Buyer possession of the Property in its
present or required condition upon closing and funding.

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 7

71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



B. Leases:

)

@)

After the Effective Date, Seller may not execute any lease (including but
not limited to mineral leases) or convey any interest in the Property without
Buyer’s written consent.

If the Property is subject to any lease to which Sellerd$ a party, Seller shall
deliver to Buyer copies of the lease(s) and any siove-in eondition form
signed by the tenant within 7 days after the Effective Date of the contract.

11. SPECIAL PROVISIONS: As a pre-condition to the salé of the Property from Seller to
Buyer, Buyer shall have received on or before the Cle§ing Date either approval fromithe
Texas Department of Housing and Community A ffairs for housing tax credits or approval
from the City of Houston, Texas, for funding forthe construction of affordable housing on

the Property.

12. SETTLEMENT AND OTHER EXPENSES:

A. The following expenses must be paid at or priorto clesing:
Q) Expenses payable'by,Seller (Seller’s Expenses):

)

(@) Releases of ‘existing liens, including prepayment penalties and
recording fees; release of Seller’s loan liability; preparation of deed;
and other expenses payable by Seller under this contract.

(b)  Seller shall also pay an amount not to exceed $0 to be applied in the
following order: Buyer’s Expenses which Buyer is prohibited from
paying by FHA, VA, Texas Veterans Land Board or other
governmentalyloan programs, and then to Buyer’s Expenses as
allowed by the lender.

Expenses payable by Buyer (Buyer’s Expenses): Appraisal fees; loan
application fees; adjusted origination charges; credit reports; preparation of
loan documents; interest on the notes from date of disbursement to one
month prior to dates of first monthly payments; recording fees; copies of
easements and restrictions; loan title policy with endorsements required by
lender; loan related inspection fees; photos; amortization schedules; tax
statements or certificates; escrow fees; all prepaid items, including required
premiums for flood and hazard insurance, reserve deposits for insurance, ad
valorem taxes and special governmental assessments; final compliance
inspection; courier fee; repair inspection; underwriting fee; wire transfer
fee; expenses incident to any loan; Private Mortgage Insurance Premium
(PMI), VA Loan Funding Fee, or FHA Mortgage Insurance Premium (MIP)
as required by the lender; and other expenses payable by Buyer under this
contract.

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 8

71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



B. If any expense exceeds an amount expressly stated in this contract for such expense
to be paid by a party, that party may terminate this contract unless the other party
agrees to pay such excess.

Initialed for identification by Buyer ____ and Seller
UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 9
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



13. PRORATIONS AND ROLLBACK TAXES:

A. PRORATIONS: Taxes for the current year, interest, maifitenance fees,
assessments, dues and rents will be prorated through the Closing Date. The tax
proration may be calculated taking into consideration any change in exemptions
that will affect the current year’s taxes. If taxes for the current yeat,vary from the
amount prorated at closing, the parties shall adjust{the prorations, when tax
statements for the current year are available. If taxes are not paid at or,prior to
closing, Buyer shall pay taxes for the current years

B. ROLLBACK TAXES: If this sale or Buyget’s use of the Property afier closing
results in the assessment of additional taxes, penalties or interest (Assessments) for
periods prior to closing, the Assessmengs will be the obligation of Buyer. If Seller’s
change in use of the Property prior to clesing or denial of a special use valuation
on the Property claimed by Seller resultsiin Assessments for periods prior to
closing, the Assessments will be the obligation of Seller. Obligations imposed by
this paragraph will surviveelosing.

14. CASUALTY LOSS: If any part of the Property,is damaged or destroyed by fire or other
casualty after the effective date of this contract, Seller shall restore the Property to its
previous condition as soon as reasonably possible, but'in anyievent by the Closing Date. If
Seller fails to do so due to factors beyond Sellers control,"Buyer may (a) terminate this
contract and the_earnestymoney will bef refunded to Buyer (b) extend the time for
performance upfto 15 days and the Closing Date will be extended as necessary or (c) accept
the Propertydn its damaged eondition with anassignment of insurance proceeds and receive
credit from Seller at closing in the amount of the deductible under the insurance policy.
Seller’s obligations undef this paragraph are independent of any other obligations of Seller
under this contract.

15.  DEFAULT: If Buyer fails to comply with this contract, Buyer will be in default, and Seller
may (2)enforce specific performance, seek such other relief as may be provided by law, or
both, or (b))terminate this contract and receive the earnest money as liquidated damages,
thereby releasing both parties from this contract. If Seller fails to comply with this contract
for any other reason, Seller will be in default and Buyer may (a) enforce specific
performance, 'seek such other relief as may be provided by law, or both, or (b) terminate
this contract and receive the earnest money, thereby releasing both parties from this
contract.

16. MEDIATION: It is the policy of the State of Texas to encourage resolution of disputes
through alternative dispute resolution procedures such as mediation. Any dispute between
Seller and Buyer related to this contract which is not resolved through informal discussion
will be submitted to a mutually acceptable mediation service or provider. The parties to the
mediation shall bear the mediation costs equally. This paragraph does not preclude a party
from seeking equitable relief from a court of competent jurisdiction.

Initialed for identification by Buyer _ and Seller
UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 10
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



17. ATTORNEY'’S FEES: A Buyer, Seller, Listing Broker, Other Broker, or escrow agent
who prevails in any legal proceeding related to this contract is entitled to recover reasonable
attorney’s fees and all costs of such proceeding.

18. ESCROW:

A.

ESCROW: The escrow agent is not (i) a party to this contraét and does not have
liability for the performance or nonperformance of anyfparty to,this contract,
(i1) liable for interest on the earnest money and (iii) liablé for the l0oss ofany earnest
money caused by the failure of any financial institution in which the earnest money
has been deposited unless the financial institutionds acting as escrow agent.

EXPENSES: At closing, the earnest money aaiust be applied first to any cash down
payment, then to Buyer’s Expenses and any excess refunded to Buyer. If no closing
occurs, escrow agent may (i) require 4 written releasef liability of the escrow,
agent from all parties, (ii) require payment of unpaidéexpenses incurred on behalf
of a party, and (iii) only deduct from the earnest money the amount of unpaid
expenses incurred on behalf of the party receiving the earnest money.

DEMAND: Upon termination of this contract, eitherparty or the escrow agent may
send a release of earnest money to ‘each party and the, parties shall execute
counterparts of the release'and deliver'same ‘toythe escrow agent. If either party
fails to execute the release, either party mnay make a written demand to the escrow
agent for the earnest money. Ifonly on€ party makes written demand for the earnest
money, esefow agent shall promptly provide a copy of the demand to the other
party. If escrow agent does not receive written objection to the demand from the
other‘party within 15 days, escrow agent may disburse the earnest money to the
patty making demand reduced by the amount of unpaid expenses incurred on behalf
of the party receiving the earnest money and escrow agent may pay the same to the
creditors. If escrow agent complies with the provisions of this paragraph, each
party hereby releases escrow agent from all adverse claims related to the disbursal
of the earnest money.

DAMAGES: Any,party who wrongfully fails or refuses to sign a release acceptable
to'the escrow agent within 7 days of receipt of the request will be liable to the other
party. for, liquidated damages in an amount equal to the sum of (i) three times the
amount of the earnest money; (ii) the earnest money; (iii) reasonable attorney’s
fees; and (iv) all costs of suit.

NOTICES: Escrow agent’s notices will be effective when sent in compliance with
Padragraph 21. Notice of objection to the demand will be deemed effective upon
receipt by escrow agent.

19. REPRESENTATIONS: All covenants, representations and warranties in this contract
survive closing. If any representation of Seller in this contract is untrue on the Closing
Date, Seller will be in default. Unless expressly prohibited by written agreement, Seller
may continue to show the Property and receive, negotiate and accept back up offers.

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 11

71053296v6

71053296v.9 0054364/00000



20.

21.

22s

23.

FEDERAL TAX REQUIREMENTS: If Seller is a “foreign person,” as defined by
applicable law, or if Seller fails to deliver an affidavit to Buyer that Seller is not a “foreign
person,” then Buyer shall withhold from the sales proceeds an amount sufficient to comply
with applicable tax law and deliver the same to the Internal Revenue Servicedogether with
appropriate tax forms. Internal Revenue Service regulations require filing written reports
if currency in excess of specified amounts is received in the transaction.

NOTICES: All notices from one party to the other must be in a¥riting and, are effective
when mailed to, hand-delivered at, or transmitted by facsimiled@s follows:

If to MIDTOWN: Midtown RedevelopmentAuthority
410 Pierce Street, Suite355
Houston, Texas 77002
Attn: Executive Director
Email: mattt@houstonmidtown.€om

With copy to: Peggy Foreman
Burney & Foreman
5445»Almeda, Suite 400
Houston, Texas 77004
Email: pforeman@burneyand foreman.com

and

Barron E. Wallace

Bracewell LLP

711 Louisiana Street, Suite 2300
Houston, Texas 77002-2770

Email: Barron,Wallace@bracewell.com

If to NHP: The NHP Foundation, Inc.
122 East 42" Street, Ste. 4900
New York, New York 10168
Attn: Stephen Green
Email: sgreen@nhpfoundation.org

AGREEMENT OF PARTIES: This contract contains the entire agreement of the parties
and cannot bg changed except by their written agreement. This agreement may be ratified,
to,the extent necessary, by the board of directors of Seller, following execution by Buyer
and Sellér. Addenda which are a part of this contract are: None.

ASSIGNMENT: This Contract may be assigned by Buyer to an affiliated entity without
the consent of Seller and in such event Buyer shall be relieved of all liability under this
Contract upon such assignment on the condition that the assignee assume all obligations
and rights of Buyer contained herein, and the Earnest Money shall remain on deposit with

the Title Company, subject to the terms of this Contract. Seller may not assign this Contract
Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 12
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



or transfer the Property without the prior written consent of Buyer, and any such prohibited
assignment shall be void. This Contract and all rights hereunder shall inure to and be
binding upon the permitted heirs, executors, successors and assigns of Seller and Buyer.

24.  CONSULT AN ATTORNEY BEFORE SIGNING: TREC rules pr
licensees from giving legal advice. READ THIS CONTRACT CA

Buyer’s Attorney is:

Seller’s Attorney is:

real estate

Neal Rackleff
Locke Lord LLP
600 Congress Avenue, Suite 220
Austin, TX 78701
Email: Neal.Rackleff@l
Telephone: 512.305.4

Barron Wallace
Bracewell LLP

SELLER

MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

By:
Name:
Title:

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 13

71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



BROKER INFORMATION

Other Broker Firm: N/A
License Number:

Represents Buyer only as Buyer’s Agent

Name of Associate’s Licensed Supervisor:

Telephone:

Associate’s Name:

Telephone:

Other Broker’s Address:

Facsimile:

Associate’s E-mail Address:

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — PAGE 14
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000

Listing Broker Firm: N/A
License Number:
Represents: N/A

Name of Associate’s

Telephone:

Broker’ e Address:

Telephone: N/A

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller



CONTRACT AND EARNEST MONEY RECEIPT

Receipt of L] Contract and [1 $10.00 Earnest Money in the form of is
acknowledged.

Escrow Agent: Chicago Title of Texas Date:

By: E-mail Address:
3700 Buffalo Speedway, Suite 400 Telephone:
Houston, Texas 77098 Facsimile:

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — CONTRACT AND EARNEST MONEY RECEIPT
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



EXHIBIT A

Legal Description

Legal Desaription: LT 28 BLK 2
BINZ & SETTEGAST

Property Address: 2501 TUAM ST
HOUSTON TX 77004
Legal Desoription: LT 13 BLIK 2

Property Address:

Legal Desaiption: LT 15

Property Address:

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — EXHIBIT A — PAGE 1
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



EXHIBIT B

Form of Special Warranty Deed

NOTICE OF CONFIDENTIALITY RIGHTS: IF YOU ARE A NATURAL PERSON, YOU
MAY REMOVE OR STRIKE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION FROM THIS
INSTRUMENT BEFORE IT IS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS:
YOUR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR YOUR DRIVER’S LICENSE NUMBER

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED

THE STATE OF TEXAS §

§
COUNTY OF HARRIS  §

THAT MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY,fa Texas non-profit local
government corporation (“Grantor”), whose address is 410 RierCe Street, Suite 355, Houston,
Texas 77002 for and in consideration of the sum of TEN AND NO/100™ DOLLARS ($10.00) and
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, has GRANTED, BARGAINED;,SOLD, and CONVEYED and by these presents
does GRANT, BARGAIN, SELL, AND CONVEYunto THE NHP FOUNDATION, INC. a
District of Columbia nonprofit corporation (‘Grantee’), whose address is 122 East 42" Street,
Suite 4900, New York, New York 10168, that certaindract or pareel of land in Harris County,
Texas more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this
reference (the “Land”), togéther, with all imprevements thereon and all rights and interests
appurtenant thereto (suCh land, improvements, rights and interests are hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Property”™).

This Special Warranty Deed (the “Deed”) and the conveyance hereinabove set forth is
executed by Grantonand accepted by Granteesubject to the following matters (hereinafter referred
to collectively as the “Permiitted Encumbrances”):

a. All easements, restrictions, reservations, covenants, conditions, oil and gas leases,
mineral severances and other matters of record (excluding prior conveyances of the
surface estate)'in the Official Public Records of Harris County, Texas which are
applicable to andenforceable against the Property including, without limitation,
those ‘matters of record described in Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated
herein by this reference;

b. Any ddiscrepancies, conflicts or shortages in area or boundary lines or any
encroachments or any overlapping of improvements which a current survey of the
Property would show;

c. Visible or apparent easements which encumber or affect the Property and do not
appear of record in the Official Public Records of Harris County, Texas; and

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — EXHIBIT B — PAGE 1
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



d. Ad valorem taxes and assessments applicable to the Property for the current year,
if any.

This Deed is additionally executed by Grantor and accepted by Grantee subjéct to the use
restrictions set forth below which shall encumber the Property and constitute covenants running
with the land (the “Restrictions™).

RESTRICTION TO AFFORDABLE HOUSING USE

I. Definitions. Unless a particular word or phrase is otherwise defined or the context
otherwise requires, capitalized words and phrases used in thisdDeed shall have the following
meanings:

“Affordable Housing” means that 80% of the Units are leased to lessees whose annual
income at initial occupancy does not exceed 80% f the Median licome. For purposes of
clarification, in the event a resident of a Unit meets the applicable Median Income thresholds of
Affordable Housing definition set forth above at the time ofGrante€’s underwriting thereof, it shall
not be a violation of the terms of these Restrictions if such resident’s Median Income thereafter
exceeds the applicable Median Income thresholds during the term ef such resident’s lease and
occupancy of the Unit (as such lease may be amended, extended orrenewed from time to time).

“Affordability Period” means the minimum period ofitime during which the Restrictions
apply to the occupied residential units to be built on theProperty (“Units”) which period shall be
thirty (30) years after the date this Deed is recorded,danless the Zone is no longer in existence, in
which case, the period shalti@ndithe first day that the Zone is no longer in existence.

“HUD” means the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development

“Median Income meansthe median income for the area in which the Zone is located, as
determined by the Secretary of HUD, with'adjustments for smaller and larger families, as of the
date this Deed is recorded and thereafter as'updated annually by the Secretary of HUD.

“Zone’ means Reinvestment Zone Number Two, City of Houston, Texas, a tax increment
reinvestment zone,created by the City of Houston, Texas in accordance with Chapter 311, Texas
Tax Code.

2. Restrigtions. As a material portion of the consideration for this Deed and the
conveyance hereinabove set forth, this Deed is executed by Grantor and accepted by Grantee
subject to the following Restrictions which are hereby adopted and established for, imposed upon
and made applicablg(to the Property:

The Property, and any improvements constructed on the Property, shell be used to provide
Affordable Housing for a period of not less than the Affordability Period as defined in this Deed.
The Restrictions shall run with the Property, shall be binding on Grantee, its successors and assigns
for the Affordability Period, and shall inure to the benefit of Grantor, its successors and assigns
for the Affordability Period. Notwithstanding any provision of this Deed or applicable law to the
contrary, these Restrictions shall automatically terminate without the requirement of further action
of any party upon the expiration of the Affordability Period.

Initialed for identification by Buyer _ and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — EXHIBIT B — PAGE 2
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



3. Covenants Running with the Land. All of the agreements, conditions, and
restrictions contained in this Deed shall be deemed covenants running with the land and shall inure
to the benefit of Grantee as the owner of the Property and each successor owner of any of the
Property and the Grantor.

4. Reconveyance Right. If during the Affordability Period the Réconveyance Right
Trigger Event occurs, Grantor reserves and shall have the right (the “Recosiveyance Right”), but
not the obligation, to require Grantee to reconvey the Property (togethet with allimprovements
thereon and appurtenances thereto) to Grantor in accordance with the 4erms and cenditions of this
Section 4.

(a) For purposes hereof “Reconveyance Right Trigger Event’ shall mean the
failure of Grantee to complete the construction ofdhe Units by December 31, 2024 (the
“Completion Date”). For purposes of this Deedg completion of construction of the Units
shall mean that construction of the Units is substantially complet€ and Grantee has obtained
all permits and governmental authorizations required by applicable law for the use and
occupancy of the Units, which shall be deemed  satisfied by Grantee’s receipt of a
temporary certificate of occupancy (or local equivalent).

b) Upon the occurrefice of a Reconveyance Right Trigger Event, Grantor may
elect to exercise the Reconveyance, Right byigiving written notice to Grantee (to be
delivered by hand or by national overnight carrierto theladdress setforth in the introductory
paragraph of this Deed). Closing under the valid exercise of the Reconveyance Right shall
be completed within thirty (30) days from the date of Grantor’s notice to Grantee of its
election to exercis€ its Réeconveyance Right. Such closing shall occur at Grantor’s option,
at the offices of the Grantor’s legal counsel or at a title company selected by Grantor, and
at closing, the Property shall be reconveyed by Grantee to Grantor by special warranty
deed, subject only to the Permitted Encumbrances and the Restrictions, but otherwise free
and clear of any and all monetary,liens and encumbrances incurred or permitted by Grantee.
In the event Grantee fails to'comply with the terms of this subparagraph (b) upon the valid
exercise of the Re¢onveyance Right, Grantor shall have the right to pursue an action for
specific performance of Grantee’s obligation to close in accordance with this Section 4 (b).

(c) The Reconveyance Right is and shall be subject and subordinate to any
indebtedness secured by a first lien mortgage encumbering all of the Land (“First Lien
Mortgage”) without the requirement for further action or documentation of any party to
this Deed orthe beneficiary of such First Lien Mortgage (“First Lien Mortgagee”).
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event Grantee incurs any such First
Lien Mortgage, Grantee or the First Lien Mortgagee may give Grantor written notice
thereof, and upon receipt of such notice, Grantor agrees to the following: (i) deliver any
notices 4given by Grantor to Grantee hereunder simultaneously to such First Lien
Mortgagee, (ii) afford any such First Lien Mortgagee an additional sixty (60) days beyond
the notice and cure periods set forth herein to cure any default by Grantee under the
Restrictions, (iii) accept performance by any such First Lien Mortgagee of any of Grantee’s
cure rights hereunder as performance by Grantee, and (iv) enter into an estoppel certificate
or subordination agreement in form acceptable to MIDTOWN, within thirty (30) days after

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller
UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — EXHIBIT B — PAGE 3
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



written request by Grantee or such First Lien Mortgagee (which notice shall be
accompanied by such First Lien Mortgagee’s proposed reasonable form thereof).

(d) The Reconveyance Right (i) is personal to Grantor, (ii)8hall not be
assignable by Grantor except to the City of Houston, and (iii) shall automatically terminate
upon the completion of construction of the Units without further agtion of the parties
burdened or benefited thereby. Without limiting the foregoing, upon the request of either
party hereto after the completion of construction of the Units, the other shall promptly
execute and deliver (and have notarized) an acknowledgemient of the' completion of
construction of the Units and the termination of the Reconveyance Right in recordable
form.

(e) Grantor agrees not to exercise the R€conveyance Right if the construction
of the Units is not completed by Completion Datefdue to the occurrénce of a Force Majeure
Event (hereafter defined) provided that Grantee, resumes and diligently pursues the
completion of the construction of the Units after the Forcé Majeure Event has abated.
“Force Majeure Event” shall mean any period or periods of delay caused by strikes,
lockouts or other labor disputes; fire or other casualty; storms, floods or other inclement
weather; terrorism, riots, insurrection, or demonstrations; or any other causes (other than
financial) beyond the reasonable'control of the Grantee.

SE Attorney’s Fees. In the event\any Party or Parties shall'institute any action or
proceeding, excluding any arbitration proceeding, against the other Party or Parties relating to the
provisions of these Restrictions, then, and in thatevent, the non-prevailing Party or Parties in such
action or proceeding shallfeimburse the prevailing Party or Parties for the reasonable expenses of
attorney’s fees and disbursements incurred in connection with such action or proceeding.

6. Geverning Law. The Restrictions shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Texas.

7. Remedies. After completion “of construction of the Units and during the
Affordability Period, in the event the Property fails to be used or operated to provide Affordable
Housing for a period of greater than 180 days after written notice by Grantor to Grantee (and any
First Lien Mortgagee, if applicable), Grantor shall have, the right to seek (a) an injunction to enjoin
the future leasing of the Units to residents who do not meet the Median Income thresholds of
Affordable Housing definition setforth above, or (b) any and all other remedies at law or in equity
to which Grantor is entitled. Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, (x) in no event
shall Grantor be entitled to seek damages or other legal or equitable remedies for violation of the
Restrictions, unless Grantee violates the Restrictions for a period of greater than 180 days after
written notice by Gfantor to Grantee (and any First Lien Mortgagee, if applicable); (y) any claim
for damages arising from a violation of the Restrictions shall be limited to actual damages,, and
(z) in no“event shall any party to this Deed be subject to a claim for punitive, special or
consequential damages.

8. Waiver of Default. No waiver of any violation of the Restrictions shall be implied
from any omission by any benefited party to take any action in respect of such violation if such
violation continues or is repeated. No express waiver of any violation shall affect any violation or

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller
UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — EXHIBIT B — PAGE 4
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



cover any period of time other than the violation and period of tune specified in such express
waiver. One or more waivers of any violation of any term contained in this shall not be deemed to
be a waiver of any subsequent violation of the same term contained in the Restrictions. The consent
or approval by any party to or of any act or request by any other party requiring conserbor approval
shall not be deemed to waive or render unnecessary the consent to or approval ofany subsequent
similar acts or requests. The rights and remedies given to any party by the Réstrictions shall be
deemed to be cumulative and no one of such rights and remedies shall be efelusive of any of the
others, or of any other right or remedy at law or in equity, which any su¢h party might otherwise
have by virtue of a violation under the Restrictions, and the exercise of one such right.or remedy
by any such party shall not impair such party’s standing to exercise any other right or remedy.

9. Amendments. The Restrictions may be amended or modified only by a ‘written
instrument executed by all of the then owners of the Land,gheir respective First Lien Mortgagees,
if any, and the Grantor or its successors and assigns. Any early terminatigh,of the Restrictions (as
opposed to termination upon expiration of the Affordability Period) will require the prior written
consent of all owners of the Land, their respective First LiemiMortgagees, if any, and the Grantor
or its successors, and assigns, Each of such owners will provide thé name and address of applicable
First Lien Mortgagees upon receipt of a written request therefor from any owner seeking to amend
the Restrictions or from Grantor or its sue€essors and assigns.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the'Property, together with all and singular the rights and
appurtenances thereunto in anywise belonging, unto Grantee, 'its,successors and assigns forever,
and Grantor does hereby bind itself; and its successors and assigns, to WARRANT AND
FOREVER DEFEND all and singular the title to thefProperty unto the said Grantee, its successors
and assigns against everyfperson whomsoever lawfully claiming or to claim the same or any part
thereof, BY, THROUGH, OR 'UNDER GRANTOR, BUT NOT OTHERWISE subject to the
Permitted Encumbrances, the Restrictions and the matters herein stated:

(a) THE PROPERTY IS BEING ACQUIRED “AS IS, WHERE IS, AND
WITH ALL FAULTS;” AND

(b) GRANTOR MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY,
EITHER "EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THE CONDITION, VALUE
OR QUALITY\OF ANY OF THE PROPERTY, OR THE USE OR SUITABILITY
THEREOF FOR'ANY INTENDED PURPOSE, OR THE ABSENCE OF ANY LATENT
OR PATENT DEFECTS THEREIN, OR THE WORKMANSHIP THEREOF, OR THE
EXISTENCE; COMPLIANCE WITH OR SUFFICIENCY OF ANY LICENSES HELD
OR REQUIRED IN CONNECTION WITH THE OWNERSHIP, USE OR OPERATION
THEREQF, OR WITH RESPECT TO THE STATUS, ASSIGNABILITY OR RIGHTS
UNDER ANY CONTRACT, LICENSE OR ANY OTHER MATTERS, OR THE RISKS
THATMIGHT BE ENCOUNTERED IN THE OPERATION THEREOF.

THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION HAVE BEEN NEGOTIATED BY THE PARTIES
HERETO AFTER DUE CONSIDERATION AND, EXCEPT FOR THE SURVIVING
OBLIGATIONS, ARE INTENDED TO BE A COMPLETE EXCLUSION AND NEGATION OF

[nitialed for identification by Buyer and Seller,
UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — EXHIBIT B — PAGE 5
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



ANY REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES, WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED OR
STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPERTY AND RIGHTS THAT MAY ARISE
PURSUANT TO ANY LAW NOW OR HEREAFTER IN EFFECT, OR OTHERWISE
GRANTEE HAS BEEN GIVEN THE OPPORTUNITY TO PERFORM THE DUEMDILIGENCE
IT DEEMS NECESSARY IN ORDER TO MAKE AN INFORMED DEGISION AS TO
WHETHER TO ACQUIRE THE PROPERTY. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY PROVISION OF
THIS DEED TO THE CONTRARY, THE AGREEMENT AND JHE RIGHTS AND
OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES THERETO ARE PERSONAL{TO GRANTOR AND
GRANTEE, AND THE REFERENCE TO THE AGREEMENTJN THIS DEED IS NOT
INTENDED TO CAUSE THE AGREEMENT TO BE A LIEN ORENCUMBRANCE ON. TITLE
TO THE PROPERTY, TO RUN WITH TITLE TO THE LAND OR TO BE BINDING UPON
GRANTEE’S SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.

Ad valorem taxes on the Property, if any, fordhe year in whighythis Deed is recorded
(“Current-Year Taxes”) have been prorated as of the'date,hereof, withl Grantor giving a credit to
Grantee of its proportionate share of any such Current-Year TaxesdGrantee, by its acceptance of
this Special Warranty Deed assumes the payment of any Current=Year Taxes, taxes for subsequent
years, and, solely to the extent the same are due to Grantee’s change in usage of the Property, any
ad valorem taxes on the Property for yearSiprior to the Current-"Year, Taxes; provided, however,
Grantee by it acceptance of this Special Warranty, Deed does not.assume payment of any ad
valorem taxes on the Property for prior years due'to changes in land usage of the Property by
Grantor or denial of a special use valuation on the Property claimed by Grantor, nor delinquent
taxes for any year prior to Current-Year Taxes, each of which shall remain the obligation of
Grantor.

[Execution Page.to Follow]

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller
UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — EXHIBIT B — PAGE 6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



EXECUTED this the  day of 20

GRANTOR

MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY, a Texas non-profi
corporation

government

By:
Name:
Title:

THE STATE OF TEXAS §

§
COUNTY OF HARRIS  §

This instrument was acknowledge ,20
by s REDEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY, a Texas non-profit local f said entity.

blic in and for the Slate of Texas
mission expires:
[SEAL]
Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — EXHIBIT B — PAGE 7
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



GRANTEE:

THE NHP FOUNDATION, INC., a District of
Columbia nonprofit corporation

THE STATE OF TEXAS §

§
COUNTY OF HARRIS  §

20, by
FOUNDATION, INC., a

This instrument was acknowledged before me o

District of Columbia nonprofit corporation.

ic in and for te of Texas

[SEAL]

Initialed for identification by Buyer and Seller

UNIMPROVED PROPERTY CONTRACT — EXHIBIT B — PAGE 8
71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000



THE LANGUAGE SET FORTH BELOW MUST BE INCORPORATED INTO A COVER LETTER
AND SUCH COVER LETTER MUST BE ATTACHED TO ALL TITLE INSURANCE
COMMITMENTS. EXCEPTION: IF THE RECIPIENT IS AN OUT-OF-COUNTY TITLE
COMPANY, USE THE OUT-OF-COUNTY TITLE COMPANY COVER LETTER.

Required Language for a Title Insurance Commitment Cover Letter

The attached title insurance commitment contains information which has been obtained ot.derived from
records and information owned by Title Data, Inc. or one of its subsidiaries (collectively “Hitle Data”).
Title Data owns and maintains land title plants for various Texas counties, Title Data created is title plants
through the investment of extensive time, labor, skill and money. The information contained in the. title
plants is protected by federal copyright law and Texas common'law on trade secrets and contract.

Title Data has granted our company a license to use one or more of its title plants. Our company’s right to
access and use Title Data’s title plants is governed by our ¢ontract with TitleData. Our contract with Title
Data restricts who can receive and/or use a title insurance commitment which is based, in whole or in part,
upon Title Data’s records and information.

Under the terms of our contract with Title Data, we are permitted to_provide you with the attached title
insurance commitment for limited use and distribution only. Specifically, you are sublicensed to deliver,
exhibit, or furnish the attached title insurance commitment,(or any copies thereof) ONLY to your bona fide
employees and a third party who is playing a bonafide rolein thisiproposed real estate transaction, including
a lawyer, a lender, a surveyor, a real estate broker or agent, and the parties to this proposed transaction.

For purposes of our agreement with Title Data, “deliver; exhibit, or furnish” includes, without limitation,
copying this title insurances/€ommitment (whether such eopying be by means of a photocopier, facsimile
machine, another electrodic scanning device, or any other method of reproduction) and providing such copy
to any third party.

Your furnishingf the attached titlefinsurance commitment to anyone not specifically enumerated above is
not permitted by euricontract with Title Data andyconstitutes a breach of our sublicense to you. Your
furnishing of the attached titlefinsurance commitment to anyone not specifically enumerated above is also
a violation of federal copyright law and Texas common law.

Therefore, as an express condition of us providing you with the attached title insurance commitment, you
specifically agree to limit its uses tojthose set forth herein, and to provide a copy of this letter to any party
to whom you deliver, exhibit, or furnish the attached title insurance commitment (or any copies thereof).

In the event you are unable or unwilling to comply with these conditions, immediately return the attached
title insurance commitment to our company, without reviewing, copying, or otherwise utilizing in any way
the information contained therein.

A COPY OF THIS LETTER MUST ACCOMPANY THE ATTACHED TITLE INSURANCE
COMMITMENT AT ALL TIMES. ALL DOWNSTREAM RECIPIENTS MUST PROVIDE A
COPY OF THISLETTER TO ANY OTHER AUTHORIZED USERS OF THE ATTACHED TITLE
INSURANCE COMMITMENT.

71053296v6
71053296v.9 0054364/00000






CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION

THE STATE OF TEXAS  §

§
COUNTY OF HARRIS §

I, the undersigned officer of the Board of Directors of Midtown »Redevelopment
Authority (the “Board™) do hereby certify as follows:

1. The Board convened in special session on thed30™ day of April, 2019, at the
regular meeting place thereof within said Midtown Zone; and the roll was called of‘theaduly
constituted officers and members of said Board, to-wit:

1 Camille Foster Director
2 Douglas Erwing Director
3 Gayle Fortson Director
4 Pamela N. Castleman Secretary
5 Al Odom Chair
6 Abe S. Goren Vice Chair
7 Caton M. Fenz Director
8 John Thomas Director
9 Brandon Dudley Director
and all of said personsdwere present, except , thus constituting a

quorum. Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted at said meeting: a
written

RESOLUTION "AUTHORIZING THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
(THE “AUTHORITY”) OR'ITS AGENT TO ENTER INTO A DEVELOPMENT AND
PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH EPIC HOMES, LLC AND PROVIDING FOR THE
CONVEYANCE, AND DEVELOPMENT OF CERTAIN PROPERTIES IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF SUCH AGREEMENT; AND AUTHORIZING
THE AUTHORITY ) OR ITS AGENT TO TAKE ALL NECESSARY ACTIONS
REGARDING SAME

was introduced for the consideration of the Board. It was then duly moved and seconded that the
Reseolution be adopted; and, after due discussion, the motion, carrying with it the adoption of the
Resolutiony, prevailéd and carried unanimously.

4302019.1
Certificate for Resolution Authorizing Development and Purchase Agreement
Epic Homes, LLC.



2. That a true, full and correct copy of the aforesaid Resolution adopted at the
meeting described in the above and foregoing paragraph is attached to and follows this
certificate; that the Resolution has been duly recorded in the Board’s minutes of the meeting; that
the persons named in the above and foregoing paragraph are the duly chosen, qualified and
acting officers and members of the Board as indicated therein; that each of the officers and
members of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified officially and persona advance, of
the time, place and purpose of the aforesaid meeting, and that the R ion would be
introduced and considered for adoption at the meeting, and each of the ers and members
consented, in advance, to the holding of the meeting for such purpose; eting was open
to the public as required by law; and that public notice of the ti bject of the
meeting was given as required by Vernon’s Texas Codes Annotate
Code.

SIGNED this

retary, Midto velopment Authority

4302019.1
Certificate for Resolution Authorizing Development and Purchase Agreement
Epic Homes, LLC.



RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
(THE “AUTHORITY”) OR ITS AGENT TO ENTER INTO A DEVELOPMENT AND
PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH EPIC HOMES, LLC AND PROVIDING FOR THE
CONVEYANCE AND DEVELOPMENT OF CERTAIN PROPERTIES IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF SUCH AGREEMENT; AND AUTHORIZING
THE AUTHORITY OR ITS AGENT TO TAKE ALL NECESSARY  ACTIONS
REGARDING SAME

WHEREAS, by Ordinance No. 94-1345, adopted on Decembetf 14, 1994, the City of
Houston (the “City”) created Reinvestment Zone Number Two, City of Houston, Texas (the
“Midtown Zone”) pursuant to Chapter 311, Texas Tax Code (the “Act”), and approved a
preliminary project plan for the Midtown Zone and a preliminary reinvestment zone financing
plan for the Midtown Zone; and

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 95-96, adopted.on June 28, 1995, the City authorized the
creation of the Midtown Redevelopment Authority {the, “Authority’’) to aid, assist and act on
behalf of the City in the performance of the City’s governmental.and proprietary functions with
respect to the common good and general welfare of Midtown and neighboring areas as described
in Ordinance No. 94-1345; and

WHEREAS, the City, the Midtown Zone and the Authority have entered into that certain
amended and restated Agreement dated June 7, 2000, and,approved as Ordinance No. 2000-494
(the “Tri-Party Agreement”), pursuant to which the City delégated to the Authority the power
and authority to administer the Midtown Zone including, but net limited to, the power to engage
in activities relating to the aequisition and development of land, construction and improvement
of infrastructure in the Midtown Zone, and provide affordable housing, in accordance with, and
subject to the limitations set forth in, the Tri-Party Agreement and Project and Financing Plan;
and

WHEREAS, the Authofity’s Board'of Directors (the “Board™) has determined that it is in
the best interest of they,Midtown Zone and the Authority to acquire tracts of land in certain
nearby historic neighborhoods to be developed as affordable housing and to commit certain
available tax inerement or bond proceeds received for this purpose; and

WHEREAS, the Authorityyhas previously acquired certain parcels of land in the Third
Ward area of the City\for such purpose, and now desires to enter into a development and
purchase agreement (the “Development and Purchase Agreement”), between and among the
Authority, the Zone and Epic Homes, LLC. (the “Developer”), substantially in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit A, 4n order to convey certain of such parcels of land to the Developer to be
developedias affordable housing; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Development and Purchase Agreement, the Authority will
sell and convey to the Developer nine (9) tracts of land in the Third Ward area of the City, as
described in Exhibit D to the attached Development and Purchase Agreement (herein, the
“Property”), at a consideration that is less than the fair market value of such land, in order to
provide decent, safe, sanitary and affordable housing for low and moderate income persons; and

4302019
Resolution Authorizing Development and Purchase Agreement
Epic Homes, LLC.



WHEREAS, the Authority believes it is in the best interest of the Authority to enter into
the Development and Purchase Agreement and to convey the Property to the Developer for the
purposes described herein and in the Development and Purchase Agreement, and the Board
desires hereby to approve the Development and Purchase Agreement and such actions.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY the Board of Directors.of the Midtown
Redevelopment Authority:

1.

4302019

That the Board adopts the findings and recitations set out in theypreamble to this
Resolution and finds them to be true and correct.

That the Board hereby approves the form,terms and provisions), of the
Development and Purchase Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A, including the
terms and provisions of the forms of Unimproved Property Contract and ‘Speeial
Warranty Deed attached to the Development and Purchase Agreement as Exhibits
B and C, respectively, and hereby authotizes the exectition by the officers of the
Board, the Executive Director or his“agent with' delegated authority, of the
Development and Purchase Agreement and any/Unimproved Property Contracts
and Special Warranty Deeds to be entered into by, the Authority pursuant to the
Development and Purchase, Agreement, and* authorizes and approves the
conveyance of the Property for a comnsideration of $1.50\per square foot, which is
less than the fair market value of such lots:

That the Board hereby further authorizes the officers'of the Board, the Executive
Director, and Authority staff anddconsultants to take the steps necessary to
execute and carry out the terms of the Development and Purchase Agreement,
including the payment of any associated costs and legal fees, and to execute any
certificates, receipts, affidavits,| motices and necessary related agreements
pertaining to the Development and Purchase Agreement and the conveyances
deseribed therein.

2-

Resolution Authorizing Development and Purchase Agreement

Epic Homes, LLC.



PASSED AND APPROVED this 30™ day of April, 2019.

Al Odom

Chair, Midtown Redevelopment Authioxity

ATTEST:

Pamela N. Castleman
Secretary, Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Execution Page to Resolution Approving Development and Purchase Agreement



EXHIBIT A

Development and Purchase Agreement

(See Attached)

Exhibit A to Resolution Approving Development and Purchase Agreement






CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION

THE STATE OF TEXAS  §

§
COUNTY OF HARRIS §

I, the undersigned officer of the Board of Directors of Midfown Redevelopment
Authority (the “Board”) do hereby certify as follows:

il. The Board convened in special session on the 30™ day of April, 2019, at the
regular meeting place thereof within said Midtown Zone; and' the roll was called of the duly
constituted officers and members of said Board, to-wit:

1 Camille Foster Dirgctor
2 Douglas Erwing Director
3 Gayle Fortson Director
4 Pamela N. Castleman Secretary
5 Al Odom Chair
6 Abe S. Goren Vice Chair
7 Caton M. Fenz Ditector
8 John Thomas Director
9 Brandon Dudley Dirgctor
and all of said persons werépresent, except , thus constituting a

quorum. Whereupon, @mong other) business, ‘the following was transacted at said meeting: a
written

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
(THE “AUTHORITY”) OR ITS AGENT TO,ENTER INTO A DEVELOPMENT AND
PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH COLE KLEIN BUILDERS, LL.C AND PROVIDING
FOR THE,CONVEYANCE AND DEVELOPMENT OF CERTAIN PROPERTIES IN
ACCORDANCE, WITH THE TERMS OF SUCH AGREEMENT; AND AUTHORIZING
THE AUTHORITY ORTITS AGENT TO TAKE ALL NECESSARY ACTIONS
REGARDING SAME

was introduced for the consideration of the Board. It was then duly moved and seconded that the
Resolution be adopted; and, after due discussion, the motion, carrying with it the adoption of the
Resolution, prevaileddand carried unanimously.

4302019.1
Certificate for Resolution Authorizing Development and Purchase Agreement
Cole Klein Builders, LL.C.



2. That a true, full and correct copy of the aforesaid Resolution adopted at the
meeting described in the above and foregoing paragraph is attached to and follows this
certificate; that the Resolution has been duly recorded in the Board’s minutes of the meeting; that
the persons named in the above and foregoing paragraph are the duly chosen, qualified and
acting officers and members of the Board as indicated therein; that each of the officers and
members of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified officially and persona advance, of
the time, place and purpose of the aforesaid meeting, and that the R ion would be
introduced and considered for adoption at the meeting, and each of the ers and members
consented, in advance, to the holding of the meeting for such purpose; eting was open
to the public as required by law; and that public notice of the ti
meeting was given as required by Vernon’s Texas Codes Annotate
Code.

SIGNED this

velopment Authority

4302019.1

Certificate for Resolution Authorizing Development and Purchase Agreement
Cole Klein Builders, LLC.



RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MIDTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
(THE “AUTHORITY”) OR ITS AGENT TO ENTER INTO A DEVELOPMENT AND
PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH COLE KLEIN BUILDERS, LLC AND PROVIDING
FOR THE CONVEYANCE AND DEVELOPMENT OF CERTAIN PROPERTIES IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF SUCH AGREEMENT; AND AUTHORIZING
THE AUTHORITY OR ITS AGENT TO TAKE ALL NECESSARY " ACTIONS
REGARDING SAME

WHEREAS, by Ordinance No. 94-1345, adopted on Decembet 14, 1994, the City of
Houston (the “City”) created Reinvestment Zone Number Two, City of Houston, Texas (the
“Midtown Zone”) pursuant to Chapter 311, Texas Tax Code (the “Act”), and approved a
preliminary project plan for the Midtown Zone and a preliminary reinvestment zone financing
plan for the Midtown Zone; and

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 95-96, adopted.on June 28, 1995, the City authorized'the
creation of the Midtown Redevelopment Authority {the, “Authority’”) to aid, assist and act on
behalf of the City in the performance of the City’s governmental and proprietary functions with
respect to the common good and general welfare of Midtown and neighboring areas as described
in Ordinance No. 94-1345; and

WHEREAS, the City, the Midtown Zone and the Authority have entered into that certain
amended and restated Agreement dated June 7, 2000, and,approved as Ordinance No. 2000-494
(the “Tri-Party Agreement™), pursuant to Which the City delegated to the Authority the power
and authority to administer the Midtown Zone including, but net limited to, the power to engage
in activities relating to the aequisition and development of land, construction and improvement
of infrastructure in the Midtown Zone, and provide affordable housing, in accordance with, and
subject to the limitations set forth in, the Tri-Party, Agreement and Project and Financing Plan;
and

WHEREAS, the Authofity’s Board 6f:Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in
the best interest of theyMidtown Zone and the Authority to acquire tracts of land in certain
nearby historic neighborhoods to be developed as affordable housing and to commit certain
available tax inerement or bond proceeds received for this purpose; and

WHEREAS, the Authority, has previously acquired certain parcels of land in the
Southeast area of the City for such purpose, and now desires to enter into a development and
purchase agreement (the “Development and Purchase Agreement”), between and among the
Authority, the Zone and Cole Klein Builders, LLC. (the “Developer”), substantially in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit A, in order to convey certain of such parcels of land to the Developer
to be developed as affordable housing; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Development and Purchase Agreement, the Authority will
sell and convey to the Developer five (5) tracts of land in the Southeast area of the City, as
described in Exhibit D to the attached Development and Purchase Agreement (herein, the
“Property”), at a consideration that is less than the fair market value of such land, in order to
provide decent, safe, sanitary and affordable housing for low and moderate income persons; and

4302019
Resolution Authorizing Development and Purchase Agreement
Cole Klein Builders, LLC.



WHEREAS, the Authority believes it is in the best interest of the Authority to enter into
the Development and Purchase Agreement and to convey the Property to the Developer for the
purposes described herein and in the Development and Purchase Agreement, and the Board
desires hereby to approve the Development and Purchase Agreement and such actions.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY the Board of Directors©f the Midtown
Redevelopment Authority:

1.

4302019

That the Board adopts the findings and recitations set out in theypreamble to this
Resolution and finds them to be true and correct.

*

That the Board hereby approves the form,4terms and provisionsy of the
Development and Purchase Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A, including the
terms and provisions of the forms of Unimproved Property Contract and ‘Special
Warranty Deed attached to the Developmient and Purchase Agreement as Exhibits
B and C, respectively, and hereby authorizes the exeelition by the officers of the
Board, the Executive Director or his ‘agent with delegated authority, of the
Development and Purchase Agreement and any/Unimproved Property Contracts
and Special Warranty Deeds to be entered into by, the Authority pursuant to the
Development and Purchase, Agreement, and“authorizes and approves the
conveyance of the Property for a comnsideration of $1.50\per square foot, which is
less than the fair market value,of such lots:

That the Board hereby further authorizes the officers of the Board, the Executive
Director, andgAuthority staff andfconsultants to take the steps necessary to
execute and carry out the terms of the Development and Purchase Agreement,
including the payment of any associated costs and legal fees, and to execute any
certificates, receipts, affidavits,| notices and necessary related agreements
pértaining to the Development and Purchase Agreement and the conveyances
deseribed thereifi.

2-

Resolution Authorizing Development and Purchase Agreement
Cole Klein Builders, LLC.



PASSED AND APPROVED this 30" day of April, 2019.

Al Odom

Chair, Midtown Redevelopment Authority

ATTEST:

Pamela N. Castleman
Secretary, Midtown Redevelopment Authority

Execution Page to Resolution Approving Development and Purchase Agreement



EXHIBIT A

Development and Purchase Agreement

(See Attached)

Exhibit A to Resolution Approving Development and Purchase Agreement






3
c .
®»

=
o]

MANDELL ST

WAUGH OR

%
k]

\

£

W SAULINER 81

.
I 5 B B B 2
@ ¢ ¥ §F =z @ 2,
Z S
WPOLK ST & g £ 5 g I 9 o s,
iz 2§ 5§ g & i’
2 z D [
%,
QLAY ST ’ & w Downtown %
w Freedmen’s Town/ . ever G,
weewst  Fourth Ward %
GLEVELAND ST & RON
- . g ~
W PiEACE S1 WIGTOR ST & & F CZ‘"
G F & o
Enlry g ~ ¥ & &
W GRAY ST Portal ) § = Q< &
>
- =
PEDEN S1 OHIS w : "Q‘b
R \
5w d iy
z W a %‘Q—
BOMAR ST 3 % s
2
= (5]
3 TAIRO e SUTTON ST
@
w =
§ WELCH ST 1Z] >0—’
£ ik
Zz =) 1 <
1 WEST DREW S g <
g ]
z
FARGO §1 =
5
b
FARVIEW AVE z
I
H
HYDE PARK BLVO
PACIFIC ST
STRATFORD 5T
AVONDALE ST
WESTHEMER AD
Montrose
LOVETT BLVD
HAWTHORNE ST
SHERSON ST
HAROLD ST u @
] =
d @  WESTMORELANDS
@
KIPLING ST a %
2
MARSHALL ST

L

0%
z 3

SUL ROSS ST

BUTE ST

Gateway
BRANARD S1

&
<, Gy,
WEST MAIN ST &

coLaun

: Prazn Pk s
ALC: / - A -

Third Ward
pys
s
&
Qf’
&

Light Rail Line

Projecls in Design/Construclion

Planned Projecls

=
WS Compleled Projecls
N
=
Q
L

025 Miles
1

Capital Improvement Projects

Midtown Redevelopment Authority (TIRZ #2) v

WALTER P MOORE



Parks and Greenspace

Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019
Marlon Marshall

Capital Improvements Program

Midtown Park (SuperBlock)
Garage Construction

Project closeout documentation in progress.

Pay Applications from Camden

Pay Application

Amount

Date

TOTAL TO DATE

$18,790,255.07

Change Orders

Change
Order #

Amount

Days

Purpose

Notes

Action

1

$0.00

Date changes to
Schedule,of Work

Approved by
MRA Board

2

$12,810.00

Remove unforeseen
concrete vault walls
and floor, four 8" bell
bottom foundations;
and the

pile of misc.
uncovered brick and
concrete; Pump out
and dispose 'of 10,000
gallons of liquids in
unmarked grease trap
prior to CoH
inspection.

Approved by
MRA Board

($222,692.43)

Deduct supply and
installation of all
Parking Control
Equipment from scope
of work

Approved by
MRA Board

$0.00

Update Contractor's
Vice President of
Construction - change
from C. David Joyce to
Bobby Rivers.

Approved by
MRA Board

$0.00

29

Time extension for
delays due to weather.
March 2015 through
June 30, 2015

Approved by
MRA Board

$17,682.00

Break out and remove
unforeseen concrete
and brick structures
including a total of
twelve 8' bell bottom
foundations

Approved by
MRA Board




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marlon Marshall

and miscellaneous
large brick and
concrete structures;
Replace waterstop for
use at the bottom of
footings and wall
intersections.

$183,600.00

Net cost for hauling
and disposing of
10,000 LCY of
contaminated soils
from excavation of
project

Approved by
MRA Board

$183,550.00

Net cost for hauling
and disposing second
quantity of 10,000
LCY of contaminated
soils from excavation
of project

Approved by
MRA Board

$32,581.46

Electrical additions
and modifications for
park design per
Owner/Architect

Approved by
MRA Board

10

$145,510.00

Net cost for hauling
and disposing final
8,000'LCY of
contaminated soils
from excavation‘of
project

Approved by
MRA Board

11

$64,212.13

13

Utility, elevator, and
park feature
modifications for,park
design per
Owner/Architect

Approved by
MRA Board

12

$285,144.26

32

Concrete, tunnel
elevation and sump
pump, and irrigation
vault shoring for park
design per
Owner/Architect

Approved by
MRA Board

13

($7,626.15)

Credit for revised park
areaway

Approved by
MRA Board

14

$117,395.37

Concrete, steel,
electrical, and
waterproofing
modifications for
elevator shaft,
irrigation vault,
electrical room, and
sprinkler room per
Owner/Architect
requested change

Approved by
MRA Board

15

($33,018.03)

54

Fire water line
modifications per City
of Houston; expansion

Approved by
MRA Board




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marlon Marshall

joint and waterproofing
changes per Architect;
credit for utilities, stair
pavers, and irrigation
vault changes

16

$50,410.20

28

Rain fountain floor
sink and pavilion
modifications; tunnel
stair extensions and
waterproofing;
maodifications to stair
#5

Approved by
MRA Board

17

($29,223.60)

Delete downstream
storm filter

Approved by
MRA Board

18

$13,872.09

Addition of HVAC

louver brace and steel

pipe protection;
relocation of twotose
bibs

Approved by
MRA Board

19

$9,510.24

Stair 1 and storefront
modifications per
Architect

Approved by
MRA Board

20

$3,305.00

Floor drain.addition at
south ramp per
Architect

Approved by
MRA Board

21

$1,895.25

11

Privacy screen
addition to\fence at
storage area

Approved by
MRA Board

22

$45,823.98

22

Sump vents
installations; lighting
control panel
installation; relocation
of header wall to
accommaodate
sprinkler system

Approved by
MRA Board

23

$24,637.83

17

Light fixture
installations; exit sign
adjustments;
screening and fencing
installation at storage
areas

Approved by
MRA Board

24

$95,733:90

Installation of fencing,
lighting, and overhead
covers at exits for
TCO per COH
inspector

Approved by
MRA Board

25

$104120.27

Bollard, railing,
signage, and lighting
changes par Architect
and COH inspector
during substantial
completion and TCO
inspection

Approved by
MRA Board

26

$798.00

Door handle
adjustments at

Approved by
MRA Board




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019
Marlon Marshall

storefront per Architect
during substantial
completion inspection

27 $40,608.75 0 Protection of in-place | Approved by
work during removal MRA Board
and replacement of
pavilion deck concrete

28 $1,860.24 0 Temporary fence for Approved by
TCO madification; MRA Board
concrete at sump
pump modifications,
panels at sprinkler
pipes

29 ($5,202.00) 0 Storage for elevator Approved by
#2: deduct labor for MRA Board
elevator #2 installation

30 ($194,208.38) 0 Remaining Approved by
contingency/savings MRA Board
after project closeout

TOTAL | $849,090.38 247

Budget
Original Contract Net Change Contract Sum |y Total Earned to Retainage
Amount Orders to Date Date
$17,941,164.69 $849,090.38 | $18,790,255.07 | $18,790,255.07 $0.00
Schedule
Original Contract Days Added by Contract Total Days Used Days Remaining
Duration (substantial | ChangeOrders Days
completion)
365 days _ 247 612 599 13

Park Construction

Contractor continues work on paver, lighting, and landscape installation in front 90 plaza area, McGowen
Street streetscape, front 90 sanitary sewer, and service drive area. Work on Main Street streetscape has
started as well.

Pay Applications from Millis

Pay Application Amount Date
38 $225,630.31 March 2019
TOTAILTO DATE $16,597,766.15

Change Orders

Change
Order# | Amount Days | Purpose Notes Action
1 (3,589.54) 0 Value Engineering to Approved by
park design including MRA Board




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marlon Marshall

buildings, water
features, landscaping,
lighting, and site
materials to meet
approved construction
budget

$45,978.20

Owner request to add
design alternates not
included in initial
construction contract
(includes playground
equipment and gate
type change)

Approved by
MRA Board

$46,657.50

Shifting of scope from
garage contract to
park contract (anchor
boits, backfill,
manhole); Reduction
in number of drilled
piers

Approved by
MRA Board

179,099.36

Replacement of
lighting fixtures
previously.removed
during value
engineering

Approved by
MRA Board

$60,980.08

Garage lid
waterproofing
subcontractor change;
Architect' requested
maodifications to sub
foundation for berm
walls and spread
footings to elevate
curbs

Approved by
MRA Board

$14,879.19

Addition of manhole to
replace inactive
manhole shown in
plans; removal of short
segment of garage lid
to install utilities

Approved by
MRA Board

$49,377.00

Installation of garage
lid waterproofing curb
detail and ADA ramp
shifted from garage
contract to park
contract; required
detailing for VE
modifications to
sidewalks and site
amenties

Approved by
MRA Board

($44,987.11)

VE modifications to
restroom roof and
deletion of planters

Approved by
MRA Board

$62,668.54

Structural piers
modification at Travis;

Approved by
MRA Board




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marlon Marshall

addition of trench
drain; job built culvert
in bayou; additional
foundation beams

10

$6,640.04

Granite curb and
paving modifications;
bollard revisions; tent
anchors

Approved by
MRA Board

11

$9,749.27

Landscape
modifications, kiosks
power and data, dog
park curb modification

Approved by
MRA Board

12

$13,592.09

Site drainage
modifications, relocate
electrical box, light
fixture change and
removal, pavilion
millwork deletion
fence revisions

Approved by
MRA Board

13

$110,084.45

Utility changes and
waterproofing near
berm wall, light fixture
replacements,
restroom wall
modifications,
electrical conduit
adjustments, overtime
allowance

Approved by
MRA Board

14

$106,452.93

11

Rain fountainisize
modification; Travis
Street temporary
service driveway;
Limestone block
changed to granite;
Electrical
modifications for bird
control system; Travis
Street storm sewer
unforeseen conditions;
Front 90 pier drilling
debris; Drainage
modification at CIP
wall 1 and west
outcrop wall;
Additional steel at
pavilion roof

Approved by
MRA Board

15

$129,243.70

Design modifications
to landscaping, rain
fountain layout ,
fountain link seals,
McGowen St. utilities,
dog park, and pavilion
electrical plans

Approved by
MRA Board

16

$111,456.51

Design modifications
to pavilion,

Approved by
MRA Board




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marlon Marshall

stair/elevator
enclosure, and
drainage; A/V
allowance; additional
work for garage TCO
and artwork

17

$121,177.35

12

Work items and
activities related to
Super Bowl opening
(construction impact,
maintenance, permits,
and overtime work)

Approved by
MRA Board

18

$58,189.66

12

Design modifications
to bayou to relocate
overflow drain inlet
from irrigation vault

Approved by
MRA Board

19

$79,698.23

Design modifications
to bayou piers;
additional backfill over
garage lid; berm
guardrail post
modification; guard rail
extensiomat elevator;
calm pool
reinforcement; bus
stop modification

Approved by
MRA Board

20

$53,377.82

10

Storm drainage
modifications and
concrete foundation
installations for
playground ‘sculpture
art work

Approved by
MRA Board

21

$50,517.27

Additional bike racks;
revised,bollards at
front 90; front 90
fountain delay;
relocate fan at
elevator lobby; paver
protection during
pavilion replacement;
electrical for BCycle
station; Bayou
drainage
modifications; delete
wall cap at restroom;
Camden pavilion sign

Approved by
MRA Board

22

$0.00

Divide the overall
project into 3 phases
to better manage
contractual
mechanisms
(substantial
completion,
warranties,
maintenance periods,
final completion and

Approved by
MRA Board




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marlon Marshall

retainage)

23

$12,093.85

Signage revisions;
playground structures
modifications;
landscape additions
adjacent to restroom;
Front 90 utilities
modifications;
temporary fencing in
garage

Approved by
MRA Board

24

$27,163.18

Front 90 fountain
modifications for future
artwork

Approved by
MRA'Board

25

$120,341.16

J-trim and wall prep for
mosaic art installation;
lighting, stone veneer,
and signage added to
mosaic art

Approved by
MRA Board

26

$10,601.20

Catenary lighting and
pole modifications as
required for artwork at
Front 90xfountain

Approved by
MRA Board

27

$14,009.85

Expansion joint:design
modification; irrigation
backflow cage; add
toggle light switches in
fountainirooms;PVC
plugs for future
restaurant building;
Kiosk foundation
rebar; Credit for steel
edge waterproofing;
Pavilion east stair
temporary modification

Approved by
MRA Board

28

(344,958.14)

B-Cycle concrete pad;
Landscape
modifications at dog
run; Replacement of
food truck electrical
outlet receptacles; Art
wall lighting cables;
Dog run fence
modifications

Approved by
MRA Board

29”

($10,800.00)

Substantial completion
agreement for South
Park; Project time
extension due to front
90 issues;

Approved by
MRA Board

30

$40,855.42

Modification to
northeast corner of
pavilion for drainage;
tent anchor
replacement; light
shield installation;

Approved by
MRA Board




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marlon Marshall

Travis Street sidewalk
and curb demolition
and curb replacement

31"

$0.00

Contract amendment
for partial retainage
release upon
completion of South
Park

Approved by
MRA Board

32

$89,113.96

Temporary installation
and removal of rain
fountain granite
pavers on pedestals
during Super Bowl
event; remove and
replace Camden
driveway curbs on
Travis Street;
Modification of art wall
plaque; Main Street
driveway, sidewalk,
and curb demolition
and curb replacement;
credit forelectrical
enclosure panels,at
pavilion and drilled
piers at front 90;
demolition.and
replacement of Travis
Street driveways

Approved by
MRA Board

33

$6,853.64

Additional COH
permitting casts for
south park area;
Installation of bollards
at’dumpster pad;
replacement of
Camden driveway
curbs on Travis Street

Approved by
MRA Board

34

$53,588.18

Design modifications
to Front 90 to
accommodate fountain
location change; X-
Ray for cores drilled a
tunnel at Front 90;
Remove existing bus
stop and replace
paving.

Approved by
MRA Board

35

$38,800.95

Irrigation design
modifications; Paving
design modifications
at McGowen;
Relocation of existing
traffic signal at
Travis/McGowen
METRO bus stop

Approved by
MRA Board

36

$47,161.12

Grading and fill dirt for
elevation changes for

Approved by
MRA Board




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019
Marlon Marshall

Main Street
streetscape;
Sandblasting of letters
at CIP art wall; Hydro
excavation to locate

existing AT&T fiber
optic cable along Main
Street
37 $102,292.41 0 Front 90 sanitary *Board Approval
sewer revision for Required

connection to Main
Street; relocation of
vent pipe in service

drive
TOTAL | $1,782,311.48 93
Budget
Original Contract Net Change Contract Sum | TotalEarned to Retainage
Amount Orders to Date Date
$16,491,724.35 $1,782,311.48 |.$18,274,035.83 | $17,318,122.40 $720,365.25
Schedule
Original Contract Days Added by Contract Total Days Used Days Remaining
Duration (substantial | Change Orders Days
completion) { Weather Days
365 days 93/58 514 526 -12

Bagby Park — Storage and‘Renovations

The Bagby Park — Storage and Renovations Project generally includes construction of a storage unit,
stage renovations, re-grading the lawn, and installation of additional lighting.

Construction

The pre-bid conference was held on April 2, 2019. Two bids were submitted at the bid opening held
on April 16, 2019. The bids are as follows:

1 Texas Wall & Landscape $ 944 847.00

Jerdon Enterprise $ 480,480.80

Staff and the'design team have examined the bids, and the lowest, most responsible bidder is Jerdon
Enterprise with a bid of $480,480.80.

Jerdon Enterprise’s bid package was submitted in accordance with contract requirements, and it is
recommended that the award be made to Jerdon Enterprise.

Construction Management and Inspection




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019
Marlon Marshall

IDS Engineering Group has submitted a proposal in the amount of $140,508.00 to provide
construction management and inspection services including materials testing for the Bagby Park —
Storage and Renovations project.

Houston Community College Capital Projects

Midtown has partnered with Houston Community College (HCC) to make improvements to streets near to
the HCC campus. The HCC Capital Projects include improvements to Holman, Alabama, and Caroline
Street. Staff is working closely with the HCC design team and consultantsfon the improvements.

The Holman Street project includes right-of-way enhancements fromMain to Crawfordy, Improvements
will include wider sidewalks, landscaping, street furniture, brick4pavers, accessibility ramps, and other
pedestrian-related infrastructure. The project will improve aceéss for HCC students to the METRORail
station and other transit services on Holman Street, and it will be partially funded through a)Federal
Transit Administration (FTA) grant.

The Alabama Street project includes complete “street reconstruétion from Main to Chenevert.
Improvements will include concrete pavement, public utility upgrades (water, storm, sanitary), wider
sidewalks, landscaping, street furniture, brick pavers, accessibility ramps, and other pedestrian-related
infrastructure. The project will be partially funded through a FTA grant.

The Holman Street construction contract hasibeen awarded to SER Construction Partners in the amount
of $5,421,219.50. Construction duration for this project is 15 months.

Holman Street Construction

Project closeout documentation in progress.

Pay Applications fromSER

Pay Application Amount Date
21 $124,043.98 January 2019
TOTAL TO DATE _ $5,542,041.77

Change Orders

Change
Order# | Amount Days | Purpose Notes Action
1 $16,775.23 0 Seat block near Approved by
MATCH; meter vault; MRA Board
fire hydrant relocation;
addition of c-channels
at electrical
receptacles; deduct
bike racks provided by
owner
2 $33,566.00 0 Roadway replacement | Approved by
adjustment due to MRA Board
asphalt thickness field
conditions
3 $21,453.42 0 Addition of concrete Approved by
METRO Bus Stop MRA Board
Parking Pad
4 $6,593.60 0 rework at Chinese Approved by




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marlon Marshall

Consulate and bike MRA Board
racks installation
5 $22,494.40 0 Streetlight conduit and | Approved by
center arms for MRA Board
benches in HCC reach
6 $27,856.00 0 Add pavers at bus Approved by
stops to match project | MRA Board
pavers per architect
7 - (change deleted)
8 $29,750.00 0 Add traffic signal Approved by
control cabinet at MRA Board
Fannin per
requirement by COH
9 $10,036.40 0 Add electrical service | Approved by
for irrigation controller J(MRA Board
10 $21,240.80 0 Add signage per Approved by
standards of new COH | MRA Board
Bike Plan
TOTAL | $189,765.85 0
Budget
Original Contract Net Change Contract Sum | Total Earned to Retainage
Amount Orders to Date Date
$5,421,219.50 $189,765.85 $5,610,985.35 | $5,542,041.77 $0.00
Schedule
Original Contract Days Added by Contract Total Days Used Days Remaining
Duration (substantial | Change Orders Days
completion)
460 days 0 460 446 14

Main Street Enhancements

The Main Street Enhancements Project will include capital improvements in the public right-of-way along
Main Street from Pierce to Wheeler. Improvements to the rail transit corridor will include landscaping,
street furniture, and other pedestrian-related infrastructure to encourage redevelopment and support
existing developments along Main Street. The Main Street project will provide an enhanced rail transit
corridor to increase comfort and safety in pedestrian environment and offer unique identity branding

through Midtown.

Construction

Project currently in one-year maintenance period effective January 9, 2019.

crossing markers installation will begin after Camden project completion.

Pay Applications from SER

Pay Application

Amount

Date

28

$12,323.50

February 2019

Remaining pedestrian




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marion Marshall

29

$12,323.50

March 2019

TOTAL TO DATE

$9,315,458.08

Change Orders

Change
Order #

Amount

Days

Purpose

Notes

Action

1

($796,356.90)

Revised lighting types
and quantities;
Additional striping per
METRO; Wayfinding
signage

Approved by
MRA Board

($2,687.00)

Removal and
replacement of
concrete entryway;
Removal of benches
with replacement with
seat blocks; Removal
and relocation of
existing fence in
ROW:; Additional
wayfinding signage
notdncluded.in bid
form

Approved by
MRA Board

$119,899.18

12

Irrigation, sleeve
locates for median
irrigation design; DMX
controller,
receivers/transmitters
for iconic lights, DMX
data conduit, and AC
cabinet for DMX
controller;

Approved by
MRA,Board

($138,527.45)

Work associated with
the'DMX Controller
that was completed by
Millis within the
Midtown Park Project;
Installation of a
concrete retaining wall
adjacent to the B-
Cycle Station at Main
Street and Holman
Street; Metal grates
and frames; Seat
blocks with lights;
Iconic light
modifications

Approved by
MRA Board

$344,663.39

87

Proposed irrigation
work in the median
and additional
irrigation work in the
ROW to serve the
median irrigation;

Approved by
MRA Board

$252,815.49

Median railing;

Approved by




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marion Marshall

Mounting brackets for
light modifications;
Median work
performed at night per
METRO direction

MRA Board

(35,884.22)

113

Deletion of paving and
curb ramps, relocation
of trash cans and
lighting, adjustments
to sidewalk

width, and changes in
planting quantities;
Additional days due to
METRO delay and
weather

Approved by
MRA Board

$696,586.94

85

Addition of
improvements
included in Alternate 1
of original bid (Truxillo
to Wheeler)

Approved by
MRA Board

$213,133.10

35

Improvements at Mid-
Main per Developer
Agreement

Approved by
MRA Board

10

$173,000.00

Additional 14 lights on
new poles and
additional electrical
meter & service
including assembly in
Alternate'1; (items
were included in the
construction plan but
left off of bid form)

Approved by
MRA Board

11

$21¢516.12

12

Installation of six
additional trash
receptacles; ADA
revisions and
installation of handrail
at Main and Rosalie
intersection; buried
concrete slab removal

Approved by
MRA Board

12

$338,328.52

41

Pull Box Relocation at
McGowen; Additional
Concrete at various
locations;
Remobilization costs
due to METRO
shutdowns; One-year
landscape
maintenance

Approved by
MRA Board

TOTAL

$1,216,466.68

395

Budget

Original Contract

Net Change

Contract Sum

Total Earned to

Retainage




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — April 30, 2019

Marlon Marshall

Amount Orders to Date Date
$8,459,353.00 $1,216,466.68 | $9,675,819.68 | $9,492 994.47 $189,859.89
Schedule
Original Contract Days Added by Contract Total Days Used Days Remaining
Duration (substantial | Change Orders Days
completion)
355 days 395 750 628 74

Caroline Street Reconstruction

The Caroline Street Reconstruction Project is the reconstruction of Caroline Street from Piercexto Elgin.
The project will include concrete pavement, public utilitydupgrades (water, storm, sanitary), enhanced
intersections, wider sidewalks, landscaping, street furnitire, brick paversgaccessibility ramps, and other
pedestrian-related infrastructure. The Caroline Stréet project will provide an enhanced pedestrian
environment and an improved vehicular connection for'southbound ftraffic through Midtown. The project
has been awarded a $4M TxDOT Grant.

Construction

Contractor continues waterline installation on eastyside of Caroline between Dennis and McGowen and
storm sewer installation on Anita Street between Caroline.and Austin ‘Storm sewer installation will move
to Mclihenny after completion on Anita. Installation of sanitaryssewer has started near Tuam intersection
on Caroline.

Design and construction_management teams_continue work with TxDOT and COH to provide direction
with ongoing TxDOT vs/COH construction specification discrepancies and traffic signal design revisions.

Change Orders

Change
Order# | Contractor IxDOT fee | Total Amount | Days | Purpose Notes Action
Amount (4.95%)

1 $159,844.45 | $7,912.30 | $167,756.75 0 Delay start Approved
compensation by MRA
from 9/11/17- Board
1/31/18 due to
time suspension
to resolve TCP
and utility pole
conflicts

2 $14,118(80 $698.88 $14,817.68 0 Temporary Approved
traffic signals as | by MRA
required by Board
revised TCP

3 $79,656.64 $3,943.00 $83,599.64 0 Waterline Approved
revisions due to | by MRA
utility pole Board
conflicts

4 $4,634.40 $229.40 $4,863.80 0 Manhole Approved
modifications by MRA
due to waterline | Board




Midtown Redevelopment Authority/TIRZ #2 Board Meeting — Aprii 30, 2019
Marlon Marshall

revisions

5 $89,582.88 $4,434.35 $94,017.23 0 Delay start Approved
compensation by MRA
from 2/1/18- Board
7/8/18 due to
time suspension

to resolve TCP
and utility pol
conflicts

{pending)

~N|O®

$42,792.95 $2,118.25 $44,911.20 0

OH requested
TCP revisions

$43,650.30 iti Board
Approval
Required

8 $41,591.52 $2,058.78

*Board
Approval
Required

9 $40,868.40 $2,022.99

TOTAL | $473,090.04 | $23,417.95







@IDS

Enginsering Group
CONTRACT CHANGE ORDER
Project: Midtown Park Date: 3/15/2019
Change Order No : 37
Job No. -07
Contract No.
Owner Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Contractor: Millis Development and Construction, tnc.
REVISED CONTRACT TIME REVISED CO| OUN
Notice to Proceed 3/23/2016  |Original Contract Amount 51 35
Contract Duration 365 Total Change Order A rough CO 36 51,68
E Substantial Completion Date 3/23/2017  |Amount of Chan 0.36 $102,292.
g Previously Approved Extension of Time 197 Total Change Date $1,782,311.48
& |rotal Time added by this Change Order 0 Revised = $18,274,035.83
|Revised Substantlal Completion Date 10/6/2017
Substantial Completion Date (see C.0. 22) 2/24/2018 see above
¥ |Previously Approved Extension of Time 253
E Total Time added by this Change Order 0
% IRevised Substantiat Completion Date
5 [substantial Completion Date (see C.0. 22) see m_h
2 Previously Approved Extension of Time
§ [Total Time added by this Change Order
'5 |Revised Substantial Completion Da
-

GENERAL STA

e official incorporation of revised documents issued to

overs the contract m ation as follows as

onstruction purposes

quested to complete the South Park work

s since Change Order 36

ted to complete the Front 90 work

were reque omplete the Camden Delay work.

Zero (0) Camden \eather Days since Change Order 36

hange order shall be performed under the same terms and conditlons as included in the original

The work covered b
construction contra

Changes Appro Changes Recommended:

velopment Authorlty DS Engineering Group
Construction Manager

By: - By: QM—C -8' W 3/15/2019

{Date) {Date)

Millis Development and Canstruction, ing. Walter P. Moore

E,  FR T s

, / (Date) 3 2119 I (Date)

.'lr‘r T e Wi 0 RS C51100 Ch Lrd Cr g Oogar Him 774 "-vqu i




CONTRACT CHANGE ORDER

Project: Midtown Park Date: 3/15/2019
Change Order No.: 37

Job No.: 1174-005-07

Contract No.. 1

Owner: Midtown Redevelopment Authority
Contractor: Millis Development and Construction, inc

3. CONTRACT DOCUMENT MODIFICATIONS;
NONE

4. CONTRACT PRICE / TIME REVISIONS:
NONE

Add the following itams:

Bulletin No. 32 - Change original McGowen Sanitary Po
(POC}.

Justification: Changes per Bulletin No. 32

Time: Zero (0} days added ta the contg

$100.,289.09

faic rail and extend 6' above grade as

Vent Pipe Relocatlon - COP-00233 $2,003.32

TOTAL AMOUNT OF CHANGE ORDERNO. 37  $102,292.41

K1 100111 2400507 Widiwn PIA (Ware Ovdar No 004 Mifiawn Pmrn CA'CPS 100 Chg O-diChangs Ordee Ko I7\Changs Order bo 17






EXECUTION VERSION

ATTACHMENT B

Form of Work Order

WORK ORDER NO. 006
This Work Order No. 006 (this “Work Order”) is issued subject to an verned by that
certain professional services agreement between Midtown and Consulta
16 , 2010 (the “PSA”).
Work Order Date: April 29, 2019

Consultant: IDS Engineering Group

Type of Compensation: Cost PlusiTime & Material
set forth price if Firm Fixed Price or Lump Sur

Compensation: $140,508

Location of Services: Midtown District-

Description of Services: Construction on_Services and Construction

IDS ENGINEERING GROUP

e o Ok,

Timothy E. Buscha, P.E.
President
Printed Name and Title

April 29, 2019
Date

WHOUVFS3\Projects\1 100\117400512 Bagby Park Renovations\PM\010 Proposal\2019-04-29 WO#006.docx

US 534486v.3 Page 1 of 1 Professional Services Agreement
IDS Engineering Group



2,
$»1DS

\/ Engineering Group

April 25, 2019

Mr. Mathias Thibodeaux

Executive Director

Midtown Redevelopment Authority
410 Pierce, Ste. 355

Houston, Texas 77002

Reference: Proposal to Perform Professional Engineering S
Construction Management and Inspection S
Houston, Texas
IDS Project No. 1174-005-12

for Bagby Park Renovations

Dear Mr. Thibodeaux:
IDS Engineering Group (IDS) is pleased to present our proposal t m professional engineering
services in connection with the above re
{Owner). IDS has built a team with demo
ability to manage a project with complex ¢
will cansist of IDS and AGCM working in ta 0 lanager role, HVJ) Associates will
perform construction materials testing, and J d WBE or DBE certified firm to
provide field observatio ice

, ated in IDS offices. AGCM provides specific
technical sup i i i 5, construction scheduling and construction

our servie ill include the following items:

MIANAGEMENT SERVICES

design clarifications and recommendations with Owner and Design Team to
resolving field problems relating to the construction.

m, together with the Owner’s representatives, observations of the construction
e to determine the dates of substantial and final completion of the work,
onstruction Project Manager shall make a recommendation to the Owner as to the
proper date for the issuance of the final certificate of payment.

C. Observe the construction site, together with the dwner, no less than thirty days and no
more than forty-five days before the expiration of the correction period established by

13430 Northwest Freeway, Suite 700, Houston, Texas 77040

TBPE F-2726 | TBPLS 10110700 infrastructure design solutions
t713.462.3178 f713.462.1631

Idsengineeringgroup.com



¢
EX
RS

N

Mathias Thibodeaux
Midtown Redevelopment Authority

April 25, 2019
Page 2

IDS

the Contract Documents. Further, the Construction Project Manager, within fourteen
days after such ohservation, shall furnish the Owner with a written report enumerating
items that require repair or replacement as provided under the correctionfperiod
provisions of the Contract Documents.

Monitor construction progress and schedule. Review the Contractor’s schedule to
ensure that it indicates duration, sequencing for major construction activities, and
identifies critical activities. Monitor and report the status of key decisions and issues
influential to the progress of the work.

Ensure that closeout documents are submitted and processed in a timely
fashion, including coordination of the final‘'estimate.

Conduct the pre-construction conference, and record and distribute the meeting minutes.

Prepare and process construction contract change orders. Maintain a record of all field
orders, directives, time extensions, and requests forinformation, proposals, and change
orders. Evaluate and negotiate change orders as authorized'and approved by the Owner
and make recommendations regarding change orders to the Owner.

Assist with the analysis and defense of claims relatingito the Project and maintain
Project records to support this efforts

Assist(in the completion and acceptance procedures and tests required for the Project.

Administer the construction contract to\achieve timely completion of the construction of
the Project.

Provide advice, reviews, and assistance to the Owner and Design Team in
connection with the construction of the Project.

Assist Owner and Design Team with all utility corporations and governmental agencies
regarding crassings, closings, and/or relocations. These shall include but not be limited to:
railroads, transit lines, power companies, telephone and telegraph companies, gas line
corporations, adjacent municipalities, county agencies, water supply and sewerage
districts, drainage and levee districts, and other local public entities.

Perform review, coordination, and liaison work between Owner and Design Team, and
interested public or private entities to achieve maximum efficiency and continuity in the
construction of Project.

Familiarization with studies, reports, etc., prepared in advance of or during design of the
Project.

Engineering Group

TBPE F-2726
TBPLS 10110700



Mathias Thibodeaux
Midtown Redevelopment Authority
April 25, 2019
Page 3
0. Review of working drawings and specifications related to the Project design where
appropriate. Provide advice and consultation concerning such documents, including

particularly their adequacy, accuracy and constructability.

P. Conduct meetings that include the Owner, Design Team and othersfprior to and
during the construction phase of the Project and/or coordinatethe above-
mentioned parties.

Q. Administer the testing laboratory contract(s). Monitor the required testing toyassure
that sufficient testing is performed, secure and distribute (or cause to be distributed)
information from the testing laboratories toghe Owner regarding necessary field and
laboratory tests, and review the results of such tests with the Owner for compliance
with the Construction Documents for€he Project, assisting the Owner when necessary.

2. CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION SERVICES

A. Processing of product submittals, laboratory, shop, and mill tests of material and
equipment for general €onformity. with Construction.Bocument requirements and
report to the Owner in writing on.such matters.

B. Processing of all Request for Information (RFI):and maintain a log of all such
documents for the duration of the canstruction process.

C. Estallish and Maintain Document Cantrol (Filing) System to include all records,
cértificates, guarantees, warranties and releases required from the construction
contractor(s). Maintain an all-inclusive file for transmittal to the Owner at the

completion ofithe Project:

3. PROJECT CONTROLS SERVICES

A Prepare andidistribute, as required, monthly status reports to include budget information,
current estimates of Construction Cost and schedule, obligations and action items
required, status of change orders, anticipated change orders, expenditures and estimated
cost at completion, contractor payment reports, and other information necessary to
define the current Project status.

B. Maintain a record of all field orders, directives, time extensions, and requests
for information, proposals, and change orders.

4. CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION SERVICES

Such services shall consist of the close, technical, on-site examination of the materials,
structures, equipment and workmanship and methods used by the construction contractor
to ensure that the Project is constructed in compliance with the Construction Documents and

&,
25 1DS
\”y Englneering Group

TBPE F-2726
TBPLS 10110700



Mathias Thibodeaux

Midtown Redevelopment Authority

April 25, 2019

Page 4
according to good construction practices. Such services shall include, but not be limited to,
the following:

A.

timely completion of the

E. Attend and participate in - he construction

ts, sketches and supportive data relative to the
ons of tracings to conform to the construction

The following services are excluded from this proposal, but may be provided under a separate proposal.

1) Environmental investigations or development of remediation plans.

2) Preparation of storm water management plan reports or maintenance of storm water
management practices.

&,
& IDS
Engineering Group

TBPE F-2726
TBPLS 10110700



Mathias Thibodeaux

Midtown Redevelopment Authority
April 25, 2019

Page 5

3) Project review and evaluations during post construction warranty period.

FEE SUMMARY

The following fees are provided below for the scope of services described herei ese services will be
invoiced monthly based on progress reported by us, subject to your verific nsistent with the
terms of our existing Master Services Agreement with Midtown. Subco de the

allowed 8% markup for 1DS for administrative burden, coordination an

mpletion as correlate level

chieving 10% completion on

In general lump sum services will be billed based upon the lev
of project completion by the Contractor following the Contr,
project.

Construction Engineering Support and Coordination
IDS Engineering Group — Construction Manageme 52,615 Fee
HVJ Associates - Material Testing $ 22,173 Hourly or Unit
Field Observation Services {Firm ) $ 63,720 Hourly
Reimbursable Expenses 2,000

Total Fees:

We appreciate the opp o you and look forward to working with you on
this project. Should i ontact either of us.

Sincerely,

(k. 8. Ydurigon

Carol D. Harrison, P.E,
Project Manager

in St CM\PM\0O Proposal\117400508 Proposal for Main Street Enhancements CM.docx

X:\1100\117400508 Mid

@,
@3 IDS
Englneering Group
TBPE F-2726

TBPLS 10110700



610Z ‘9 Aenigag pasiady

T4T

TABAL - IND SuOREeADUBY Yied AqFeg\1aBpng Ov0\INd\suoneAouaY Yeq Aqdeg ZTS00VLTT\OOTT\SI2[0.d\ESIANOH\

BL3IEN

(dmyieN %8 + @al) sanoy yep= (3

P34
Uow tod Inoy z/] 1pulg
sjaam Jad sunoy foad
y@am Jad sinoy ¢ - 15U0)
y@am Jad sino 1suo)
SIUSWNI0P 03500 3 512pJ0 adUEYD 'SAE[Zp J2YIBam 103 UOT Sj@em ¢ ([euy 03 L 10} Uor Fam M
805'0bT $ 000'8S $ 1es'or § ooz $ 474 0 061 0 0 88 v1018NS
€212 S TESDC S [o18) ‘uosiuey sueYnsuo) gns a|gesinquisy  gns
0ZL'E9 $ | 000'6S S |ode) ‘uosuieH spue)ynsuo) gns J|qesanquivy  9nNs
0007 S 000C S sasuadx3 a|qesinquizy  dX3
UDIIRAISSQO UORONISUO) 08P
ST9'7S S (41 061 S 901G BSBYJ UoRINISUO)  OSY
uoionnsuo) 54
150D sasuadxg sosuadxy  sasuadxy 56$ €ZIS 8STS 00TS 6bTS  6€TS  S8IS T8 adA) JaBeuey uondussegdsel  ysel Jeud)
Joge fueynsuoy  AquBynsuo) ‘wisy NIWNQY SE0 Y¥9W (JO¥d QOY¥d 113 ON3S YOS  dsel usisaq 34oid
quiay qunay 1SNOD LS /9N3 /Y9N Hoy3 35383ng - v uondo
penuod 3unsay 5] 9S SS 4 SE 14 ST S0
qns/uopdadsu|  1e-03D 6102/81/v 3eq
Bujpuad fAH 59p0J) UoneZIIIN ZT-S00PLIT 2quinn 3afoid

suoneaouay Jed Aqdeg oy WD :3wep wafoid

138png uonanpold Pafold






a3a33N 1ON JFNIL TvNolLiaay

"0€°0G9'eY $ Ul nsay [m Junowe Aped piiyl 8yl (€10} Y] PUE %G6'{
s1 109(04d siy} uo sapuabuRuoo pue Buussulbug ay| Japio abueyd €30} ay) 10 %00, Bueaaoca aq [Im Jouisiq Juswabeuely umolplpy Juawaaibe Buipuny psoueape ay) Jad
sequnowe Aued piiy) B YyIm pajeroosse aq [jim 1apio abueyo sy 25 68" LP$ JO unisno ul Jnsays o} pajew}ss ale Japto abueys pasodoud siy Ag paianod suoisiaal 8y |

(30144 19 MOT ON)

(v3=10Q) (oM 1elj0D 81212u0) [BUOHIPPY)

8# 00

v3/82°129'7$ v36 ¥ WALI ¥3QHO FONVHD INDINN ¥002-8096 ‘LI
pappe wa) maN

"3]qeuoseal puE lie} paulwIs)ep
US3q sey Wwajl 3y} JOJORNJUOR By} WOl PARIMIGNS Uoejusndop dn yoeq Buioud uodn psseq pue Junouse piq Moj Ou SBY J9B1UCD Sy} 0} PappE WA} Bumaj|o) 8y |

‘ue|d sbeuleip pasiral

8y} Jad se suoNOBUUD [eISIe|/SIE||09 S1aIouoD Y] [|esUl O} SUOP HIoM 8}315U0D [BUOHIPPE Sy JO} JOJOBLUOD By} }esuadWod o} 1 Jop10 abueyo siy] 19a1g ulsny

uo J1amss wiols Bunsixa 0} suoioBUL0I |eIale|/e)|o00 981U spnjaul ojueld.sbeulelp'ay) pasinal Juswpedap sy} |4y 8y} 0} osuodsal U] SUOI}O3UU0D |BIS)E| JoMas
wuojs sy} BuipieBal yuswyedap ay) o} 10j0e1U0D By} A pajsanbal sem (]4) Uoneulojul Joj jsanbai e 198118 auljole) uo washs abeulesq ay) Jo uononssuod ay) Buung

‘sjuawanosdwi Bunybl| 19ans pue adeaspue| ‘saue| axIq ‘saul| Jamas Alejues
'saul] Jojem "Jamas unojs ‘sauel Bupped apis qino ‘saunb pue qino yum Aempeol suel-z e jo Bulsisuos Aempeos 9}810U0d e 4o uonoNIIsSuodal ay) Joj [|ed sueld josloid siyy

*LNJW3ZHOV SIHL 01 SNOILJIIXT IANTONI ‘ANVSSIOIN NIHM 'GIDNVHI ONIZE S1 LYHM ANV ¥IAUO IONVHO FHL ¥O4 NOSVIY 3HL 3gr¥9s3d

IAI™YINO IIATT AMddY
Z5°165°11S :AINNOWV AL¥Vd aQ¥g
ONILYdIDILHYJ-NON 3dAL 0D
((SINOSVYIY ANYANODIS 25'16G'L¥S :INNOWY 09
(NSIS3Q LOAX1) 39Sd LOFMHOONIVLE - VI INOSVIY ‘d1ISWvIaY ‘arT 'HOLOVYINOD
Siej|oD 8)810un) ‘NOILdINOS3a
LL'69¥'98L°ZL$ 11V royd rav aNad
JUnoAdY X015 ] LL'699'9BL2LS {1V @3L03royd rav
SO ppv/alRIRa [ aunsnipy swit ] 950 2MIGNNN VINY ¥5.289'8EF°21$ :INNOWY Q3L93royd
spwry ysfoid sbueyo ] unuspunuNIBAO ] "3'd ‘wejg uyor '¥IINIONE VINY #6'9/2'08'21L8 :INNOWY QNVMY
Awuenp jeurd ] {ejlog 097 SIHYVH :ALNNOD 8E0E/L¥0 :19VMINOS
Juno2ay 82104 ] oM eix3 [A 4} :LORLSIa €12-216 D :193roud
£30] IAVMHOIH €00122160 :dl LOVYINOD
suondung-
RITAS ST T VO SO J
Wd80:9V'Z  6L0Z/9/Z  :31va LNOd3Y 8 "HEN ¥3QNO IONVHD .-m.m.m.._ MEB_W

x



“1V3S S.HIINIONI YNV

alva
‘VMHA “HIINIONT VIV
3ilva
*40L1D3¥9IQ 3AILND3X3 ALNd3A ‘I A3INRd/Q3dAL
3iva
NOISIAIQ NOLLONWLSNOD ‘¥OoLO3NIA -JNVN Q3LNRId/Q3dAL
3aiva

*¥33NIONS LORILSIa ‘A8
HOLOVELNOD 3HL
. OAOQE uoneue|dxa
Ul pajou aq pinoys suondeoxd "10BAUOD BY) PUE { WY 3OUBPIOIIE Ul SPEW S Juawaaibe siy) jey) pue aBueyp siY Jo Jnsal e se uonesuadiod JO SSO| Jo ‘Jyoid PUB PESLISAD

‘8w 1o} sabueyo [euonippe ‘sesuadxe Jaylo |Ie pue Aue 0} anp uoNesuadWOD [EUOHIPPE o} SUHEI [|B PUE AUE SAIBM 0} S3aI6R JODRIUCD By} JOpIO abueyd siyy Buiubis Ag,




Z5'16S'LvS AINNOWY ¥IQYO IONVHO
D 81910U07) [EUCHIPPY)
8# 0D oLaav
25°16G' LS 000’6 000'6 0000 00082°128'v  10Q ¥0028096 £2op 100
093 SIHL ALD 09 SIHL ALD A3Y 3o1d 3000 WAl yEN
INNOWY M3N ALD A3¥d + 91O 1INN 1INN wawl INT 91V
(NOILYdIDILYYd TvH43Aa34 804 319191713 1O €00122160 ¥EN 123royd
SWALI LOVIINOD
¢ Jo ¢ abey 8

"4EN ¥3IQNO0 IDNVHD €001.22Z160

al LOVYINOD






TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT CHANGE ORDER NUMBER: 9

Advance Funding Agreement (Third Party Funding) Information
100% of $40,868.40 (Net Overrun)
This form is used when the subject change order involves funding by a source otherthan TxDOT/U.S. DOT.

1. Outside funding provided by: CCSJ: 0912-71-003

Midtown Management District Project: C 912-71-3
(Outside Entity's Legal Name)

Highway: CS Caroline Street

Limits: _Elgin street to Pierce street
2. Type of outside funding agreement for this change:
Existing 0 Amended O New City CIP No:
[ Check one ]
County: Harris
3. Indicate the type and amount of funding: District: Houston
[0 Fixed Price (Lump Sum) (Estimated Amount: ) Contract
Number: 04173038
Actual Cost (Estimated Amount; $40,868.40 )
Use as peeded:
(a) Contract ltems (Bid Items): $40,868.40 | hereby approve the modifications covered by Form CO
for this Change Order and agree to finance the
(b) E&C™: (a)x 495% = $2,022.99 additional costs, if any, as reflected by this form,
enter %
Subtotal $42,891.39 Advance Funding Date
(c) Indirect Cost™: (@a+b)x 000%l = $0.00 By
enter%
TOTAL $42,891.39

Typed/Printed Name

Typed/Printed Title

4 The percentage (%) for E&C (Engineering and Contingencies) charges varies from project to project from approximately 6%
to 11% depending on the contract amount of the project. Projects with higher contract amount will have the lower rate of
E&C charge. For a specificiproject, E&C rate (%) can be derived from the cost of "Engineering and Contingencies" in the
"Estimated Cost" of the project.

**1_Usethe statewide district rate as established by Finance Division each year. This line is for Service Project only, unless
otherwise specitied in the Adyance -unding Agreement. See Stand Alone Manual Notice 98-2 tor instructions.

Advance Funding fof this Change Order has been arranged:

District Engineer Date

Typed/Printed Name:; Quincy D. Allen, P.E.

TXDOT Form CO-AFA (Rev. 5-2003) (Modified for Houston District use, 10/03)




10aX1 SFUNSYIWMAHOM ALIAVS DONISIATY-IE - €00

10dX1 A9 d3¥IS3A ¥HOM T¥NOLLIady-de -

i€

80d7 11 8dAL Jo} saul mau (¢) Jnoj ppy

JUNO22Y YO0IS ]
SO Ppv/si98Q ] uswisnfpy awn) ] 950
suwi 103lold abueyn D UNUSPUN/UNLIBAQ N ‘T d 'wel3 uyor
Auenp [euy D Jejjoq o187 D SIdHVH
JUNOJ2Y 92104 D NIOAA BIXT & Zl
SO
1SUORIUN -
WVL0:Lp:8  61L02/SL/y 31vd 1HOd3Y

(sINOSVYIY

JAIFIHINO
0¥'898°0¥%
NILVdIOILYYd-NON
0t'898'0v$

“T13A3T AdddY
-LNNOWV ALYVd Que
‘3dAl 02

-LNNOWY 02

‘HOLOVHLINOD
LAV royd rav anad

‘LAY @3103royd rav
‘LNNOWYV Q3103rovyd

INNOWY QYVYMY
LOVHLINOD
:103rodd

‘dl LOVYLINOD

‘HIEWNN vINY
¥3IINIONT VY
:ALNNOD BEOELLYO
1LoKd1sIa €12.216 0
:AVMHOIH €001.22160
"HEN ¥3QYO0 IONVHI

wcvrnamdiams | g evda g .-...\

IS RIS Py

..m.mm:.meem.mwm

tl..



a3a33N LON JNIL TvNolLIaay

‘Buypuey Jaypny pue ‘maiaal 1noA 1oy payugns
SI pue 0O ealy siiueH yuoN ay) g pancidde usaq sey pue Op 898 0p$ JO JUNOWE Sy} Ut JORJIUCD SIY} JO} PSZLIOYINE SPUN) JO UNLISAO UE Ul JNSal JjIM Japlo sBueyo siy|

0.°850'€L$ 4700062 4/E0°sY$
aAuQ Buotie 019 HI (z AL(40¥d MOT)(1dMLS) 910 180d  9502-21S0 LEE aun

08'PEE'LLS 4100022'} 471/66°9%
(2 ALNH40¥d MOTI(IAOW) 910 1¥0d  2202-21L50 9z¢g aun

05°216'8$ 4700°06¢ 47/52°0¢$
onueAY Jsjemiy 1e gy | HS (Z AL)(dO¥d MOT(IOHUNOS $3Q) 910 L1¥Od  8102-Z4S0 éce 8un

0v'265'2$ 47 00°062 471/90°92$
aAlg Buotie 0L9 HI (z AL(40"d MOT)(3DHNOS S3A) 91D 180d  8102-2150 Lge aun

'6 "ONISPIQ 8bueyd sid) Yim psppe a9 |IM pue dO L pasiAal 3y} 4o ya| AusuaApeul s1em g0d Z 8dAL By} 1oy sway aul () Inoj Bumojo) sy

"Ayoedes o] paj)y Jou aue yey) speoj |ney 0} syonyj Buikiddns

10}0B1JU03 3Y} S3PNJIUI §S0D |euoippedY) ‘S1owisyung "1osfoid auwols: piek sy} souglsip 6uoj Jo asneoaq paseasoul JayHny S| SNUSAY IIEMIY 1B S| HS 1B pajeao)
psek ayy Joj §soo 8y | piek Alddns ay) Woyy pue o} Juawdinba Bunioid Buliney o 305 8y) sapnjoul aoud siy1 -sposloid 1Oa@xL 1oyio ul paljddns Ajjleuriou junowe ssbue
8y} o} paJedwoo 1a8(o1d sy} 10} Aiessaosu g Dd 4O JUMOWE [lews 8y} [NeY 0} 1So2 [euonIppe ue s| alay} esneoaq piq mo| abesane uey} 1aybiy si papiroid Buioud ay |

"SNUSAY J8jeMily pue gf| HS 1e pajeoo) pieA | OQX1 8y} woly paoinos aq o} §9d1

g adA| ay3 Joj Buioud |euonppe apinoid o} payse uayy semdopenuod ay] '19s(oid ayj Jo; §9d1 2 adA 1 jo unowe pasinbai ay) Alddns o} psek aaug Buot 1 OaxlL ayi 18
[euajew yBnous Jou sem 813y} Jey} paululslap sem }| ‘gDdT g adAL sy} (aAng BuoT) spdsools pue ‘saow ‘(aaug 6uo) s21nos o] sway aull papnjoul [BRILIQNS By 9ALQ
Buo pue 019 HI 1 paiedo) §0d1 | adA L ay) Se pied | OQX ) SWes sy} Wolj paainos aq 0} §10d1 2 adA) ayj 103 dnyjoeq pue Buroud pspiwqgns Ajleuibuo sweiqy 'qr

00°000'Z1$ 4700°000°Z 47/00°9%
(1 A(H0"d MOTY(IIMLS) 910 1¥0d  §£02-21S0 0€€E aur

00°000'2$ 47000002 47/06°c$
(1 ALX(d0¥d MOTIIAOW).G1D 180d  9202-21S0 GZg aun

00°000'7LS 47000002 47/00°2$
(I AL)(JO8d MOT)(3DHNOS S30) 91D 180d  210Z-21LS0 0Z¢g aur

:d0d1 | 2dA ] Joj 1oelu0cD 3y 0] pappe Ajsnolrald alem Sway aull saly)
Bumollo 8y ‘suoseas Alsjes Joy 4O PasIAS] U} O} pappe aq (g0d1) Jaleg 9)a10uo) 9|yoid moT ey} pajsanbal swelqy Qi (HOD) uoisnoH jo Ang ays Aq pajoalal
Aipajeadar sem 491 jeulBuo sy} Jaye 4oj ay) ubisepal o} pey | OQX1 ‘1enamoy (|0 Aq paubisep semJes ueld sy} uy paphjoul (4D 1) ue|d [ouo) Jely jeublo ay|

‘Aunqeyiene o} anp sa01nos Jusiayip oMy Woy §0d1 Z 3dA 1 10} 10BUGD BU) 0} SWH MBU (1) IN0j PPE [|IM J3pIo sBueyd joslgns syl

"sjuswanosdun Bunybi| 19ans pue adesspue) ‘saue| ayiq ‘sau) Jamss Kiejues
'Saul| Jajem 'Jamas wiols ‘saue| Bupped spis qino ‘JenB pue qino ypm Aempeol suel-z e jo BulsISucd ABMPEO) 8}210U0d B J0 uononusuooal ay} Joy |les sueld yafoid sy

*LNINIITHOV SIHL OL SNOILJIOXI IANTONI ‘AMYSSIIIN NIHM "IONVHO ONIF SI LYHM ANV ¥3QHO IONVHD FHL H04 NOSYIN JHL 3g1¥9S3a



“IV3S S,UIINIONT vIHY

3lva

‘VMHA ‘HIIANIONT VY

3iva
‘HOLOIYIA IAILNOAXT ALNd3q ‘37111 G3LNINd/G3dAL

3lva
*NOISIAIQ NOLLONYLSNOD ‘“YOLO3NIA -JNVN Q3LNRId/Q3dAL

iiva
-433NION3 LoRILSIa PX: |
YOLOVHLNOD 3FHL

» 9A0qe uoneue|dxs
Ut p3jou 39 pjnays suondsox3 J0eNUOD Y} PUB ¢ Wa)| SOUBPIOIIE L) SPBW S| Juswaaibe sy} Jey) pue sbueys sy} jo )nsal e se uonesuadwod Jo §so| 10 Jyoid pue pesylano
‘awn Joj sabueya |euonippe ‘sasusdxa Jay)o (e pue Aue 0] anp uonesuadwod |euonippe Joj swie|o |le pue Aue snlem o} saaibe 10J9e1U0D 3y} ‘1aplo abueyd siy) Buubis Ag,



0v'898°0%$ LNNOWY ¥3QNO IDNVHI

0£'850'€L$ 000°062 000062 0000 000€0°SY 8€0221 50 LEE 100
08'VES'LLS 000°022'L 000°022'L 000°0 000659 22022150 9z¢e 100
05°216'8% 000062 000062 0000 000S.2°0€ 81022150 cee 100
0t'/55'2$ 000062 000°062 0000 0009092 81022150 343 100
02 SIHL ALD 02 SIHL ALD A3 30Rid 3000 W3all yaN
LNNOWY M3N ALD A3¥d + 910 LlINN Wall 3Nl 91v)

(NOILYJIOILYVd Tv43a34 04 31919113 LO €00122160 ¥EN 193roud
SW3LI LOVILINOD

v jo v abeq 6 “¥EN ¥30¥0 IONVHD £00122160 Ql LOVNINOD





